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Firstly, we would like to thank all our 
dedicated staff, volunteers and supporters 
for their dedication and focus in supporting 
seriously ill children and their families.
Children’s Health Foundation simply would 
not be able to exist without such an incredible 
and generous network of individuals who 
give up their time, expertise and resources to 
support this cause. We would particularly like 
to thank our Board of Directors who volunteer 
to provide support and governance towards 
ensuring that the Foundation remains robust, 
well governed and focused on the children 
and families we serve. 

2024 was another year of emerging needs 
and new priorities for sick children and their 
families in hospital. Over the past year, the 
executive and board of Children’s Health 
Foundation have maintained a strong 
focus on impact, resilience, and long-term 
transformation in children’s healthcare. The 
Foundation remains committed to providing 
sick children and young people with the 
very best chance. Our role is not to simply 
address shortfalls in the health service, but 
to drive innovation and progress in paediatric 
healthcare.

By inspiring and engaging a community of 
fundraisers, volunteers, employees, and 
directors, Children’s Health Foundation 
continues to be a catalyst for meaningful 
change. Through the power of fundraising 
and philanthropy, the Foundation supports 
families, healthcare workers, and researchers, 
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Fionnuala O’Leary 
Chief Executive Officer

Mark Mahon 
Chair

Chief Executive and Chair Welcome

ensuring that children attending Children’s 
Health Ireland hospitals and urgent care 
centres receive the highest standard of care.

In 2024, Children’s Health Foundation 
continued to evolve as the principal 
fundraising organisation supporting Children’s 
Health Ireland, both now and into the future. 
As preparations advance toward the opening 
of the new National Children’s Hospital, 
the Foundation’s focus has been twofold: 
continuing to support children, families, and 
healthcare professionals across existing CHI 
locations, while also strategically planning 
for its central role within the new hospital. 
This dual focus ensures that the Foundation 
is positioned to maximise its impact today 
and, in the years, to come, within a world-class 
paediatric healthcare environment.

2024 saw Children’s Health Foundation 
respond to the challenges of the year and 
disbursed €5.3 million in financial support 
directly to both Children’s Health Ireland 
(CHI) hospitals and urgent care centres, and 
to its research partners – Research Ireland 
and the National Children’s Research Centre 
(NCRC), now merged with CHI through its 
Research and Innovation Office (RIO).

Research remained a key pillar of funding 
for Children’s Health Foundation, paving 
the way for cures, prevention and gentler 
treatments. Through our partnership with 
Research Ireland, we had the third joint call 
for innovative paediatric focused research 
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projects in 2024, committing €2 million 
to this partnership, and a further €939k 
committed to Seed Funding for Research 
and Innovation projects directly in Children’s 
Health Ireland.

Governance and transparency are 
fundamental to all activities at Children’s 
Health Foundation. Our financial statements 
are prepared in accordance with the 
Statement of Recommended Practice 
(SORP) for Charities, following Financial 
Reporting Standard 102 (FRS 102), applicable 
in both the Republic of Ireland and the 
UK. We are fully committed to the highest 
standards of accountability, and proud to 
maintain compliance with the Charities 
Institute Ireland Triple Lock Standard—
demonstrating our adherence to best 
practice in governance, ethical fundraising, 
and transparent financial reporting.

Our interim 2024 strategy focused on 
delivering an organisation fit for the future, 
which can deliver growth and support unmet 
needs in tandem with changes in Children’s 
Health Ireland. Through our generous 
partners and supporters, we delivered an 
income of €17.2m and saw a decrease in 
overall fundraising costs while focusing on a 
structure for the future of the Foundation. 
We strengthened our financial sustainability 
by carefully managing costs, diversifying our 
income streams, and successfully reaching 
new supporters.

We also continued to engage collaboratively 
with our CHI colleagues, developing and 
maintaining relationships with key personnel 
to ensure we are aware of the needs of 
patients and their families and healthcare 
professionals within the current hospital 
sites. Relationships and partnership are key 
to the Foundation being able to deliver on 
its mission and will continue to be a firm 
priority for our strategy going forward. These 
efforts are helping to ensure the long-term 
resilience of Children’s Health Foundation 
and our ability to support innovation, care, 
and research well into the future.

A major focus this year has been the 
development of our new organisational 
strategy 2025-2027 which will guide our 
work for three years. This strategy is being 
built to ensure that we are fully robust to 
deliver meaningful impact and capable 
for the transition to the new hospital. We 
are actively defining how our brand will 
align with this new national hospital, how 
donor-led funding can be channelled most 
effectively, and how we can drive long-
term, multi-generational benefits through 
expanded investment in research and 
development.

The new strategy is built around five key 
priorities—delivering greater impact for 
sick children, strengthening partnerships, 
embedding operational excellence, laying 
the groundwork for ambitious growth, and 
evolving the Foundation’s brand to reflect its 
future role in paediatric healthcare.

We would like to thank the dedicated teams 
across the four different sites at Children’s 
Health Ireland in Crumlin and Temple Street 
Hospitals and urgent care centres at Tallaght 
and Connolly. Each day they care for sick 
and injured young people, giving them 
every chance to get well and ensuring their 
hospital experience is as comfortable as it 
can be. We constantly hear from families 
who are overwhelmed with gratitude for 
the incredible care their children have 
received during some of the most difficult 
times in their lives. We feel privileged to 
be able to support our colleagues who 
treat and care for these children. We also 
feel a great responsibility to ensure that 
there is a sustainable income for years to 
come so that we can invest in research 
and innovation which will help transform 
paediatric healthcare into the future. 
Through increasing funding to pioneering 
and personalised research, less children will 
get sick, and more children will get better.

Children’s Health Foundation continues to 
raise vital funds to support sick children and 
their families across the Children’s Health 
Ireland (CHI) hospitals and urgent care 
centres at Crumlin, Temple Street, Tallaght, 
and Connolly. With the generosity of our 
supporters, we funded life-saving equipment, 
essential patient and parental supports, and 
pioneering paediatric research—helping 
to drive real and lasting improvements in 
children’s health outcomes.

About Us

Every day, young patients rely on the 
expertise and dedication of the world-class 
medical teams within CHI. We are proud to 
stand alongside them, ensuring they have the 
resources they need to deliver the highest 
standard of care. As we look ahead to the 
opening of the new National Children’s 
Hospital in 2026, our work is focused not 
only on addressing current needs but also on 
building the future of paediatric healthcare 
in Ireland.

Our Mission
To work together to provide 

world-class facilities,  
research, and compassionate, 

loving care for every sick  
child in Ireland.

Our Vision
To give every sick child 
the very best chance.
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We value ourselves, each 
other and all members of 
our community showing 
understanding and  
appreciation for all our 
similarities and differences.

We believe in the power of 
working together to improve 
outcomes for sick children.

We are ambitious for the health  
and well-being of the children we 
serve, and we will do everything  
we can to ensure that each and 
every child has the very best chance 
of a full, healthy, and happy life.

We constantly strive to redefine the standard 
of excellence in everything we do. We are 
open to ideas that challenge the conventional 
views and drive innovation and support better 
outcomes for children.

We care for those we work 
with, and all our interactions 
are characterised by respect, 
courtesy, warmth, and 
professional dignity.

The child is at the heart of everything we 
do. We are here to ensure every sick child 
has the very best chance and everything we 
do is to improve outcomes for sick children.

Compassion

Integrity

Respect

Child- 
centred

Collaborative

Ambitious

Innovative

We are true to our mission  
– always striving to do the right 
thing, by being open, honest,  
and transparent.
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Funding Impact

In 2024, Children’s Health Foundation 
disbursed €5.3 million in financial support 
to Children’s Health Ireland hospitals 
and urgent care centres, and to Research 
Ireland and the National Children’s 
Research Centre (NCRC).

This included:

€5.3m
Total Investment

40%

30%

26%

4%

Annual Report and Financial Statements 2023
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DIRECTORS	

Mark Moran (Chair)

John Chase

Julia Davenport 

Eilísh Hardiman  
(resigned 3 September 
2024)

Owen Hensey 

David McCann  
(resigned 31 August 2024)

Sinead Mc Sweeney 
(resigned 28 November 
2024)

David Phelan 

Brendan Jennings 

Oonah McCrann

Anne Kilgallen  
(appointed 3 September 
2024) 

COMPANY 
SECRETARY	

Cara Secretaries Limited

CHIEF EXECUTIVE	

Fionnuala O’Leary 
(appointed 1 February 
2024)

REGISTERED OFFICE 
AND BUSINESS 
ADDRESS	

14 -18 Drimnagh Road, 
Drimnagh, D12 HX96

COMPANY 
REGISTRATION NUMBER 
(CRO)	

328920

REVENUE 
COMMISSIONER 
NUMBERS (CHY)	
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REGISTERED CHARITY 
NUMBER (RCN)	

20042462

REGISTERED BUSINESS 
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Children’s Health 
Foundation 

Connolly Children’s Health 
Foundation 

Crumlin Children’s Health 
Foundation 

CMRF Crumlin

Temple Street Foundation

SOLICITORS	

Arthur Cox

Ten Earlsfort Centre, 
Earlsfort Terrace, Dublin 2

AUDITORS	

Deloitte Ireland LLP

Chartered Accountants 
and Statutory Audit Firm

Deloitte & Touche House,

Earlsfort Terrace, Dublin 2

INVESTMENT 
MANAGERS

Irish Life Investment 
Managers Limited 

Beresford Court, Beresford 
Place, Dublin 1 

Quilter Cheviot Investment 
Management Hambleden 
House, 19-26 Lower 
Pembroke St. Dublin 2

€2.1m 
on the upgrading 
and replacement of 
vital and life-saving 
medical equipment

€1.6m 
on life-changing 
research

€1.4m 
on patient and 
parental supports

€0.2m 
on new services  
and redevelopment
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Our Impact at a Glance 

Over the years, Children’s Health Foundation 
has remained steadfast in its commitment to 
transform care for sick children across Ireland. 
Thanks to the generous support of our donors, 
we have been able to deliver significant 
services and meaningful support to patients, 
families, and staff at Children’s Health Ireland 
hospitals and urgent care centres.

From funding life-saving equipment to ward 
and service development, and from patient, 
parent, and staff initiatives to life-changing 
research, we have continued to honour our 

commitment to providing world-class facilities, 
research and compassionate and loving care 
for every sick child in Children’s Health Ireland 
hospitals and urgent care centres. 

Each year, Children’s Health Ireland provides 
care to thousands of sick children and their 
families across its hospitals and urgent care 
centres. Behind every number is a child, a 
parent, a care team and a story of hope, 
healing, and resilience. We are honoured to be 
part of this journey and remain dedicated to 
making a positive difference in their lives.
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28,774
Inpatient  
Admissions

152,509
Outpatient Appointments  
led by a consultant

(face-to-face or virtual)

28,593
Day Cases

148,242
Attendees at  
Emergency Department /  
Urgent Care

17,217
Theatre Cases

2024 Facts and Figures at a Glance

9,660 CHI at Crumlin 

1,538 CHI at Tallaght

6,019 CHI at Temple Street 

19,898 CHI at Crumlin 

1,900 CHI at Tallaght 

6,795 CHI at Temple Street 

12,549 CHI at Crumlin 

4,831 CHI at Tallaght 

11,394 CHI at Temple Street 

9,956 CHI at Connolly 

76,945 CHI at Crumlin 

17,149 CHI at Tallaght 

48,459 CHI at Temple Street  

24,284 CHI at Connolly 

40,082 CHI at Crumlin

37,721 CHI at Tallaght 

46,155 CHI at Temple Street 

Our Approach
To decide where to invest across research, 
equipment, new services, and patient 
initiatives, we employ a structured and impact-
driven approach that ensures every donation 
makes a meaningful difference.  
 
This approach includes:

Alignment  
with Mission  
and Priorities
Grants are aligned with the 
Foundation’s mission to 
enhance the care, treatment, 
and outcomes for sick 
children and their families.

Impact  
Monitoring
Ongoing impact assessments 
of funded projects are 
conducted.

Insights inform future 
investments and continuous 
improvement.

Evaluation  
and Feasibility
Applications are rigorously 
assessed against key criteria 
to ensure investments deliver 
meaningful outcomes. 

Positive impact on sick 
children in Children's Health 
Ireland and long term 
sustainability  
is prioritised.
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Our Plans for the Future

At Children’s Health Foundation, our 
commitment remains focused on ensuring that 
sick children and their families have access to 
the best possible care, comfort and hope. This 
is only possible through strong partnerships 
with our healthcare and research colleagues, 
whose support helps us expand our impact in 
meaningful and measurable ways.

We will continue to grow our grant making 
efforts, reaching more children and families 
through targeted funding calls across 
Children’s Health Ireland hospitals and 
urgent care centres. We will invest further in 
pioneering paediatric research, with a clear 
focus on improving health outcomes for 
this generation and the next. To ensure the 
greatest possible impact, we will maintain 
strict financial efficiency, directing the 
maximum amount of funds raised towards 
frontline care, services, and innovation. 
We also recognise the importance of 
demonstrating the difference we make, and 
will continue to enhance how we measure, 
evaluate, and communicate our impact.

Partnerships will play a central role in our 
future. We will continue to work closely 
with Children’s Health Ireland to align our 
efforts and accelerate progress. Through 
collaborations with research institutions such 
as Research Ireland, universities, and other 
children’s charities, we will strengthen our 
ability to respond to complex needs and deliver 
even more for sick children and their families.

Operational excellence underpins everything 
we do. We are committed to maintaining the 
highest standards of governance, while also 
investing in our systems and skillsets to unlock 
our full potential. Our team is at the heart of 
our success, and we will continue to foster a 
workplace culture that is inclusive, purpose-
driven and people-centred. In everything we 
do, we aim to provide exceptional service to 
our supporters and stakeholders, building 
lasting trust and connection.

We are also laying the foundations for 
ambitious growth. This means developing a 
more varied and sustainable income portfolio 
that can withstand economic shifts and 
funding challenges. We will focus on growing 
our base of direct supporters and ensuring 
that every fundraising activity is cost-effective, 
strategic, and impactful. At the same time, 
we are committed to cultivating an agile, 
innovative culture where ideas can be tested, 
refined, and scaled.

Finally, we are evolving the personality and 
identity of Children’s Health Foundation to 
meet the needs of the future. We aspire to 
be Ireland’s most recognised and trusted 
children’s charity, with a brand that truly 
reflects our values and the people we 
serve. By delivering exceptional supporter 
experiences and empowering our employees, 
volunteers, and beneficiaries to become 
champions of our mission, we will strengthen 
the connection to our cause.

Together with our community  
of supporters, patients and their 
families and healthcare partners,  
we will continue to drive change, 
deliver hope, and improve lives,  
one child, one family, one 
breakthrough at a time.
 

“We will invest further 
in pioneering paediatric 
research, with a clear 
focus on improving 
health outcomes  
for this generation  
and the next.”
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Patient, Staff  
and Family Services
Thanks to the generosity of our supporters, 
we funded a total of 164 initiatives to the 
value of €1.4 million across Children’s Health 
Ireland hospitals and urgent care centres in 
2024. These initiatives have provided essential 
services that provide comfort and compassion 
during the most challenging times for 

patients, parents and families.

From creating moments of joy and laughter 
on the wards to reducing stress for parents, 
and fostering staff engagement, these 
services have significantly strengthened 
connections and encouraged collaboration 
among patients, families, and staff across 
Children’s Health Ireland hospitals and urgent 
care centres.

VIP Days on Surgical Flat Ward 

Children’s Health Foundation funded the VIP 
(Very Important Patient) Days on the Surgical 
Flat in Children’s Health Ireland at Temple 
Street in 2024. 

The initiative was developed by the Play 
Specialist and Clinical Nurse Manager to 
support long-term patients facing extended 
hospital stays. It began with one young girl 
from Donegal who was feeling particularly low 
during her time in hospital, far from her home, 
family, and friends. 

Her mother had said that she was worried 
about her daughter’s mood, and it was clear 
that a regular party was out of the question. 
Thinking outside the box, the team organised 
a personalised celebration  “Donegal Day” 
with games, laughter, prizes, and treats. It 
was a massive success, that helped hugely to 
brighten a difficult time.

The success of the day was evident, when 
the patient called it the “Best Day Ever,” and 
the value was not only clearly seen by her 
but also by her mother and the rest of the 
care team. Emboldened by this experience, 
the team created “VIP Days” to offer other 
children who may need a morale boost along 
their hospital journey celebrations likewise 
tailored to their interests.

Since then, the Surgical Flat has hosted 11 VIP 
Days, each designed to bring joy, comfort, and 
a sense of normalcy to children spending long 
periods in hospital. The VIP Day themes are 
centred around things that are important to 
the patient, e.g., hobbies and interests, county 
GAA, home, or a wish to be the boss for the 
day. As one young patient put it: 

“Everyone wants to be part of a VIP 
Day because they are so much fun!”

“Thanks to the generosity of Children’s 
Health Foundation and the supporters, 
these days have become even more 
special. Funding has allowed the 
team to provide themed sustainable 
decorations, delicious food, sweet 
treats, and even tickets to events.  
From Princess Day to superhero parties, 
each VIP Day offers a chance for young 
patients to simply be children again  
if only for a little while.”

VIP Days are a powerful reminder that even in 
difficult times, small moments of joy can make 
a big difference.
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Sparkle Staff and Patients events Committee

In 2024, the team at Children’s Health 
Ireland at Crumlin identified a clear need for 
meaningful celebrations for both families 
and staff, prompting the formation of the 
Sparkle Committee. This multidisciplinary 
team comprised of hospital staff from various 
departments who plan and deliver uplifting 
events throughout the year to foster joy, 
connection, and well‑being among patients 
and staff. Feedback has been overwhelmingly 
positive as the funds enabled vibrant 
decorations and events that make hospital 
days more memorable and comforting.

The Sparkle Committee met monthly 
and with their boundless enthusiasm and 
crucial funding from our supporters, they 
transformed ideas into realities. Parents 
appreciated the cheerful atmosphere. 
Patients enjoyed the festivities and chance 
to be a child again, and staff felt valued and 
motivated. Strengthening team spirit and 
community as well as boosting morale.

Through the funding given in 2024, the 
Sparkle Committee transformed hospital life 
at Crumlin and later across Children’s Health 
Ireland sites with a year-round calendar of 
engaging and heartwarming events. From 
Halloween ward-decorating contests and 
Easter bonnet competitions with Bunny visits, 
to a full Christmas spectacle featuring an Elf 
Town toy shop, superhero ward visits, pyjama 
giveaways, Santa’s disco “flight,” and festive 
selfies, the impact was immense. 

They also celebrated Valentine’s Day with 
chocolates, St Patrick’s Day with treasure and 
pot-of-gold hunts, and International Nurse’s 
Day with cross-site award ceremonies and 
treats for staff. Enthusiastic volunteer-led 
decor, themed activities, and widespread 
participation from families and staff brought 
joy and unity throughout the year.

“Staff in hospital work extremely hard 
all year around and they also have 
quite diverse backgrounds  
and nationalities to cater for.  
The funding provided by Children’s 
Health Foundation and their 
supporters was instrumental in 
helping us to carry out all the 
activities and ensure staff and 
patients’ wellbeing was catered for.”

Trisha Hynds
Sparkle Department, Crumlin

Healthy Living with CHI, Connecting with Families Event 

Children and young people attending the 
Healthy Living with Children’s Health Ireland 
Service / Child & Adolescent Complex 
Obesity Service face many barriers to 
engaging with healthcare and active play. 
These include stigma, developmental needs, 
long waiting lists, multiple appointments, 
and geographical challenges. Stigma in 
particular can leave families feeling judged 
or isolated, making them hesitant to engage 
with services.​

To address these challenges, the service 
hosted a connection day, creating an inclusive 
and supportive space for families to connect, 
learn, and have fun together. A total of 64 
people attended, with activities designed 
to build confidence, reduce isolation, and 
strengthen family bonds. Children took part 

in indoor and outdoor activities, supported 
by staff and volunteers using a “challenge 
by choice” approach that encouraged 
participation at each child’s comfort level. 
Families shared meals, music, and dancing, 
helping to foster a relaxed atmosphere.​

Alongside the activities, eight staff delivered 
interactive workshops for parents on 
nutrition, physical activity, sleep, screen 
time, and emotional health. The event 
strengthened relationships between 
families and professionals, led to improved 
service engagement, and gave children 
valuable opportunities for peer connection. 
Parents reported gaining practical 
knowledge, while families left feeling cared 
for, supported, and more confident in 
managing their child’s health.
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Enhancing Infant and Parental Mental Health Through 
Infant Massage 

For many infants in the care of Children’s 
Health Ireland’s neonatology services, the 
first weeks of life are spent in hospital 
undergoing complex procedures such as 
abdominal surgery and the frequent insertion 
of intravenous or nasogastric lines. Many are 
entirely dependent on intravenous or tube 
feeding. Parents must manage both the 
emotional strain of their child’s condition 
and the physical separation, which can delay 
bonding and impact later development.

With support from donors, infant massage 
has been introduced to help families 
during this time. In 2024, 13 staff including 
occupational therapists, physiotherapists, 

speech and language therapists, and a play 
assistant completed accredited training. Each 
received a demonstration doll, with additional 
premature-sized dolls and parent handouts 
provided to support neonatal families.

Research shows infant massage strengthens 
bonding, supports parental confidence, and 
improves infant and parent mental health. 
Staff also report that the programme is 
rewarding and beneficial, particularly for 
families receiving palliative care.

Stephanie Fleming
Physiotherapy, Crumlin

Ward and Service 
Development
Thanks to the generosity of our supporters, 
we awarded grants to 12 new and emerging 
services worth €0.2 million in 2024 to enhance 
access to, and the delivery of, care across all 
Children’s Health Ireland hospitals and urgent 
care centres.

These initiatives have fostered inclusivity, 
innovation, and ongoing learning, further 
reinforcing our commitment to give every sick 
child the very best chance. 
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“You’ve changed my life. 
Now I know the whole 
team is looking out for 
my baby’s mental health. 
That means everything  
to me as a parent."

Tiny Minds 

Tiny Minds is Ireland’s first dedicated neonatal 
psychology service, established within a 
paediatric setting at Children’s Health Ireland. 
It represents a major step in integrating 
psychology and neonatology.

With donor support, we developed the 
infrastructure needed to research, develop, 
and deliver psychosocial interventions for 
families and staff in the neonatal intensive care 
unit (NICU).

The importance of this service is reflected in 
the story of Sarah, a mother of twins born 
at 26 weeks. Tragically, one of her sons, Joe, 
died at six weeks, while her other son, Jack, 
who has chronic lung disease, is expected to 
remain in hospital for several more months. 
Sarah is deeply traumatised, and although 
her presence is vital for Jack’s recovery and 
bonding, she struggles even with brief visits.
While psychological therapy for trauma 
usually takes time, Jack cannot wait. Infant 
outcomes in neonatal care are strongly 
influenced by the quality of early caregiving 
relationships. The first few days and weeks of 
life lay the social and emotional foundations 
for lifelong wellbeing and mental health, 
making this a critical psychological juncture.

Even when loss is not involved, having a baby 
in ICU represents a profound emotional 
upheaval, the loss of a normal pregnancy or 
birth, the immediate bonding that comes 
with taking a healthy baby home, and the 
expectations of a healthy start. Premature 
births are unplanned and can be deeply 
traumatic for families.

Specialised psychological care within NICU 
settings is therefore essential to improve 
outcomes, prevent long-term health 
issues, and support family-centred care. 
Research shows that up to 30% of NICU 
parents experience a diagnosable mental 

health disorder, while staff are at risk of 
burnout, compassion fatigue, and secondary 
traumatic stress.

Thanks to the generosity of our supporters, 
Tiny Minds has already delivered measurable 
impact. An initial psychosocial audit of 34 
NICU families led to streamlined, targeted 
psychological interventions, reducing 
therapy sessions from 26 to a maximum of 
12. An induction book for Neonatology at 
Children’s Health Ireland, Crumlin, has been 
developed and is now being adapted for 
the new National Children’s Hospital. Staff 
psychological support for trauma has been 
introduced, alongside 12 sessions of weekly 
Family Integrated Care (FiCare) training.

Overall, the Tiny Minds Project is contributing 
to a cultural shift within the NICU, placing 
psychological wellbeing and family-centred 
care at the heart of practice.

Claire Crowe, a staff member, commented:

“We’re making real progress as a 
neonatal team by placing psychological 
wellbeing and family-centred care at 
the heart of what we do. The grant 
from Childrens Health Foundation has 
allowed for shorter, more focused 
interventions with better outcomes. 
Weekly FiCare and Infant Mental 
Health training is shifting our culture, 
and staff trauma support has made a 
real difference.”
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“It has laid the 
foundation for lasting, 
systemic change in 
how neurodivergent 
children are cared for."

Adapting the Neurodiversity Affirmative Paradigm  
in Paediatric Care

Funding from Children’s Health Foundation 
enabled the successful implementation of a 
full-day, cross-site neurodiversity-affirmative 
training programme for staff across 
Children’s Health Ireland.

The project aimed to equip staff with the 
knowledge and tools to provide inclusive, 
strengths-based care to neurodivergent 
children and young people including those 
who are autistic, have ADHD, dyslexia, or 
other neurodevelopmental differences. 
Training introduced a neurodiversity-
affirmative framework, with a strong focus 
on understanding sensory and environmental 
needs, with the goal of improving care and 
outcomes for neurodivergent families across 
the Children's Health Ireland network.

Before this initiative, there was no 
coordinated training or standardised best-
practice guidance for neurodivergent care. 
Staff identified significant knowledge gaps, 
and the absence of a consistent, up-to-date 
framework led to variability in care, increased 
patient anxiety, and potential negative 
impacts on outcomes.  A total of 35 clinicians 
from psychology, nursing, occupational 
therapy, physiotherapy, and medicine 
completed the full-day interdisciplinary 
neurodiversity-affirmative training, each 
influencing hundreds of patient interactions 
annually and extending the programme’s 
long-term impact across the CHI network. 

Participants received a toolkit and sensory-
friendly clinical guide to support practical 
application. Staff reported increased 
confidence in adapting communication and 
clinical approaches to the neurodiversity-
affirmative framework. Many have initiated 
departmental changes, including sensory 
adaptations in waiting areas and adding 
patient-specific care cues into records. Others 

are sharing their learning with colleagues, 
promoting inclusive language use and team-
based practice improvements.

Some Clinicians also had this to say after  
the training:

"The training was extremely well-
received. The project successfully 
met its objectives, laying the 
groundwork for systemic, 
sustainable change. Children's 
Health Ireland is now better 
prepared to embed neurodiversity-
affirmative care into daily practice an 
essential step."

“We would like to thank Children’s 
Health Foundation for the funding 
to run this training. It enabled vital 
training that has laid the foundation 
for lasting, systemic change in how 
neurodivergent children are cared for 
at Children's Health Ireland.”

Sinéad D’Arcy-Bewick,  
Psychology Department,Crumlin
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Vital Life-Saving 
Equipment
Thanks to the generous support of our 
donors, we funded the delivery of 64 vital, 
lifesaving equipment worth €2.1 million, 
across various clinical and surgical wards 
within Children's Health Ireland hospitals  
and urgent care centres. 

This investment has significantly improved 
patient care, enhanced the delivery of 
medical services and reaffirmed our 
commitment to provide world class health 
care facilities for every sick child in Ireland.

LED “sky ceilings” at the Laurels Clinic: 

Creating a child friendly environment within a Forensic Medical Unit

The Laurels Clinic provides forensic 
medical and child protection assessments 
for children and young people who have 
experienced rape, sexual abuse, or sexual 
assault. As the only clinic of its kind in Dublin 
and much of Leinster, it manages around 
170 appointments each year, supporting 
approximately 120 families  
in a safe and supportive setting.

Until recently, however, the clinical rooms 
felt stark and sterile. While these spaces 
must remain clear to facilitate forensic 
examinations often carried out with An 
Garda Síochána the atmosphere could 
feel cold and intimidating, particularly 
for children and adolescents already 
experiencing acute distress.

To address this, LED “sky ceiling” panels were 
installed across the clinic. In just two months, 
the transformation has been remarkable. 
One room in particular an internal space with 
no windows has been completely revitalised 
by the natural light effect of the panels.
The design draws on therapeutic 
principles, echoing international research 

highlighting the positive impact of natural 
imagery on adolescent service users. For 
young people coping with trauma, such 
visuals provide comfort, distraction, and a 
gentle sense of escape. 

Feedback from staff reinforces this impact:

“The first thing I think of is calming 
and distracting. I’d be making shapes 
out of the clouds. It’s bright and 
beautiful, a safe feeling, almost like 
being protected by nature. Everyone 
at the Laurels Clinic is deeply grateful 
for the funding that made this project 
possible. The panels have created 
focal points of interest in each room, 
softening the necessary clinical 
environment and making the spaces 
more welcoming for children  
and families.”

Jacqui Crowley, Laurels Clinic, Children’s 
Health Ireland, Tallaght
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Advanced Simulation Equipment to run weekly 
simulations in Paediatric Intensive Care Unit PICU

Before receiving funding from Children’s 
Health Foundation, the PICU team faced 
significant challenges in delivering consistent 
and timely paediatric simulation training. 
Equipment had to be borrowed from the 
Resuscitation Team, leading to scheduling 
conflicts, delays, and restricted access.
With support from the Foundation, funding 
was secured for a SimCube and advanced 
baby and child manikin. This investment 
strengthens Children’s Health Ireland’s 
commitment to clinical education and patient 
safety and plays a vital role in neonatal and 
paediatric emergency training.

A major interdisciplinary simulation brought 
together more than 20 specialists from 
Theatre, Cardiac Surgery, Cardiology, PICU, 
Anaesthesia, and Perfusion. The exercise 
focused on enhancing communication and 
response during ECMO (extracorporeal 
membrane oxygenation) scenarios which is a 
critical intervention for heart and lung support 
during cardiac arrest. The new manikin 
provided a highly realistic and immersive 
training environment, enabling teams to 
identify and address gaps in communication 
and workflow.

As a result, the PICU successfully 
conducted a full-scale ECPR (Extracorporeal 
Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation) simulation 
involving over 20 clinicians, with further 
sessions planned. The training improved 
team communication, coordination, and 
confidence in initiating ECMO during cardiac 
arrest, while also establishing a structured 
simulation-based training pathway. Smaller, 
regular simulations are now being introduced 
to address specific learning needs identified in 
the initial session.

Voices of Impact

“The new manikin has made our 
training so much more realistic. 
During the ECMO scenario, we were 
able to practice as if it was a real 
patient, which highlighted areas we 
could improve as a team. That kind 
of learning is invaluable when the 
stakes are so high in real life."

PICU Nurse, Children’s Health Ireland

“Being able to train in a full 
interdisciplinary setting meant we 
weren’t just practising our individual 
roles, but also how we communicate 
and coordinate as a team. I feel more 
prepared and confident to respond if 
an ECMO situation arises in PICU."

Consultant Anaesthetist,  
Children’s Health Ireland

“We are deeply grateful for this 
funding, which has significantly 
enhanced our simulation training 
capacity. The grant has empowered 
our team to overcome previous 
limitations and directly improve 
the quality and safety of paediatric 
patient care.”

Sunimol Joseph, PICU,  
Children’s Health Ireland, Crumlin

Bili-Meter Reading Device

Children’s Health Foundation funded the 
purchase of a new Bili-Meter for the Children’s 
Heart Centre at Children’s Health Ireland, 
Crumlin. The Bili-Meter is a non-invasive 
device that measures bilirubin levels through 
the skin, making it especially well-suited for 
newborn babies and vulnerable infants. Its 
introduction has transformed the way staff 
monitor jaundice in cardiac patients, providing 
faster, more accurate results while improving 
family reassurance.

Previously, staff had to borrow Bili-Meters 
from other neonatal units, creating delays in 
assessment and uncertainty for families. In 
addition, nurses had not received structured 
training in its use, which limited confidence 
and consistency in practice. Thanks to 
donor support, CHF funding enabled both 
the acquisition of the new device and 
comprehensive staff training ensuring 
confident, accurate use across the team.

Impact of our Funding

Improved Accuracy and Timeliness
The Bili-Meter delivers quick, reliable results, 
allowing clinicians to diagnose jaundice 
sooner and make timely treatment decisions 
for infants with complex cardiac conditions.

Greater Efficiency
With a dedicated device in the Heart 
Centre, bilirubin assessments are carried 
out immediately, reducing delays and 
supporting faster interventions.

Consistent Standards of Care
Standardised training has ensured every 
nurse can use the device with confidence, 
meaning every child benefits from the same 
high-quality care.

Better Family Experience
Parents report reduced anxiety thanks 
to clearer communication, quicker 
assessments, and the confidence shown  
by staff when using the new device.

Voices of Impact

“When our newborn, Lily, was 
admitted with jaundice, we were 
so worried. But the nurses at the 
Children's Heart Centre used the 
new Bili-Meter right away, which 
gave us quick and clear answers 
about her bilirubin levels. They 
seemed so confident and efficient, 
explaining everything as they went. 
It felt like we knew exactly what 
was happening and what treatment 
she needed much faster, which 
really eased our anxiety during a 
stressful time." 

A Family in the Cardiology Department.

“The new Bili-Meter device has 
been invaluable. As a staff nurse, 
the training on it has made me feel 
so much more confident performing 
bilirubin assessments, knowing I'm 
using the device correctly and getting 
accurate readings. We didn’t have 
to borrow the bili-meter from other 
areas. It's truly improved our daily 
practice, giving us a much better 
assessment and intervention tool for 
our cardiac patients."

Staff Nurse , Children's Health Ireland 
hospitals and urgent care centres.
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Groundbreaking 
Research 
Through the benevolence of our supporters, 
we invested € 1.6 million in more than 25 
groundbreaking research initiatives designed 
to improve patient outcomes across all 
Children's Health Ireland hospitals and urgent 
care centres.

From supporting new discoveries to sustaining 
ongoing research, these efforts are driving 
meaningful improvements in care and service 
delivery across all Children's Health Ireland 
hospitals and urgent care centres.

Children’s Health Foundation is proud to 
support research that leads to lasting impact 
for children’s health in Ireland and beyond.

Research and Innovation Grants 2024

57 research and innovation grants  
were awarded, including:
•	 5 National Children’s Research Centre Grants

•	 5 Temple Street Foundation Grants

•	 37 CHI Seed Funding Projects

•	 1 CHI Cardiology Professorship

•	 9 Research Ireland awards

Impact – Advancing Treatments  
for Childhood Illness
•	 Cancers and Heart Disease   

Leukaemia, Neuroblastoma, Osteosarcoma, Congenital 
Heart Disease

•	 Chronic Conditions   
Cystic Fibrosis, Epilepsy, Asthma, IBD

•	 Rare and Genetic Disorders  
22q11 Deletion Syndrome, Craniosynostosis, 
Neurogenetic and Metabolic Disorders

•	 Brain Injury   
Neonatal and Traumatic Brain Injury

Supported Researchers and Innovators
The grants supported a diverse network of 118+ 
researchers and innovators, including:

•	 84 lead and co-investigators  
(academic and clinical supervisors) driving  
cutting-edge studies.

•	 12 clinical and academic research fellows  
(MD, MSc, PhD students) advancing their research 
careers in children’s health.

•	 Specialist teams of postdoctoral researchers, 
research nurses, assistants, and coordinators working 
directly with young patients and families.

•	 Dedicated roles in biostatistics, patient and public 
involvement (PPI), and innovation design ensuring 
research is rigorous, patient-centred, and impactful.

At a Glance

57 
grants awarded

118+ 

researchers supported

20+ 

health areas impacted

84 

lead and co-investigators

12 

research fellows
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What Matters to Me: Changing the Conversation  
in Nursing Handover
Project Leads: Joppa Lynn Paris, CNM2, Maple Ward and Jacquie Lyons, CNM3

Thanks to donor support through the 
Children's Health Ireland Innovation Seed 
Funding programme, a new approach to 
nursing handover is transforming how care is 
communicated and experienced.  A dedicated 
team of nurses working with parents and 
young advisors reimagined the traditional 
process. Now, instead of happening behind 
closed doors, handovers take place at the 
bedside with patients and families as active 
members of the care team.

Nurses use the ISBAR3 framework and a 
“What Matters to Me” communication board 
to guide conversations, ensuring clinical safety 
while also centring what children and families 
want and need.

The results are clear. On Maple Ward, 100% of 
nurses value including parents in the handover 
process with 92% of families report greater 
satisfaction and, more importantly, a new 
sense of trust and involvement. 

As one parent shared: 

“It gave me confidence and trust in 
the team. I felt empowered with the 
knowledge of exactly what others 
knew about me and my son.”

This innovative approach is now expanding, 
with early rollouts underway in Children's 
Health Ireland Temple Street and Children's 
Health Ireland Crumlin. A handover toolkit 
has been created to support wider adoption, 
laying the foundation for a consistent model 
across the new National Children’s Hospital.  
What began as a pilot project on one ward is 
now set to scale up to potentially transform 
the experience of care for over 25,000 
families every year, proof that small clinically 
led projects, backed with the right support, 
can drive extraordinary change.

Making every Referral Count: 
Transforming Access for Children with Craniofacial Conditions 

Every year, the National Paediatric Craniofacial 
Centre (NPCC) at Children’s Health Ireland, 
Temple Street receives hundreds of referrals 
for children with concerns about the shape 
of their head or face. These can range from 
congenital skull differences to trauma-related 
injuries. Accurate triage is critical: the sooner 
a child who truly needs specialist care is seen, 
the better their outcome.

In 2019, the NPCC team introduced a simple 
but powerful change—asking referrers 
to include photographs with head-shape 
referrals. The impact was immediate: fewer 
unnecessary appointments and shorter 
waiting times for children who needed 
specialist care. But challenges remained. 
Photos often arrived late, separately, or had 
to be matched manually with referrals, making 
the process time-consuming and unreliable.

Thanks to funding from Children’s Health 
Foundation’s Innovation Seed Funding 

programme, and the generosity of donors 
who made it possible, the team co-designed 
a new electronic referral system. This 
guides referrers through an interactive 
form, complete with visual prompts to help 
them describe a child’s condition more 
accurately. A secure photo-upload app allows 
parents or referrers to send images that are 
automatically matched to the correct referral 
using a unique code.

This innovation reduces stress for families, 
saves time for staff, and most importantly 
ensures that children with serious conditions 
are seen sooner.

Now launched nationally, with early clinical 
feedback highly positive, this project 
demonstrates how smart, clinically led ideas 
when backed by donor support can transform 
access and outcomes for children and families.

Visual tool 
guiding 
referring 
doctors

Online portal 
to upload 
head shape 
images

Faster 
access to 
Craniofacial 
Service
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Increasing Diagnostic Rates for Children with Rare 
Neurological Conditions
At Children’s Health Ireland, Crumlin, 
Consultant Neurologist Dr Susan Byrne and 
Consultant Clinical Geneticist Dr Janna Kenny 
are leading the EpiFUN (Epidemiology of 
Children with Undiagnosed Neurogenetic 
Disorders) research programme. Their goal 
is to increase diagnosis rates for children 
with suspected neurogenetic conditions 
by combining advanced technologies with 
collaborative expertise.

The team was awarded Research Innovation 
Funding to establish the CINDI Registry 
(Collaboration of Intervention in Genomic 
Disorders in Ireland). This secure research 
database collects detailed patient information 
including medical histories, genetic profiles, 
and outcomes on children with both known 
and unknown diagnoses. It provides a vital 
platform to identify children who may benefit 
from advanced genomic testing and, in the 
future, clinical trials or precision therapies.

The EpiFUN programme reanalyses 
commercially generated sequencing data 
using advanced tools such as the FutureNeuro 
pipeline, long-read genome sequencing, and 
transcriptomics. Findings are discussed by 
a multidisciplinary team, and where a likely 
diagnosis is identified, it is confirmed in an 
accredited laboratory. This approach is already 
helping families receive clearer answers, 
better counselling, and in some cases, access 
to treatment options.

Voices of Impact

“The CINDI registry forms the 
foundation for our work. It allows 
us to identify children without a 

genetic diagnosis and include them 
in advanced research studies, while 
also ensuring we can rapidly recognise 
children with known conditions  
should new therapies or trials  
become available."

Dr Susan Byrne, Consultant Neurologist, 
Children’s Health Ireland at Crumlin

“By engaging with families, clinicians, 
and data specialists during the design 
of the registry, we created a tool that 
reflects real patient needs. It’s already 
helping us bring advanced diagnostic 
techniques to children who previously 
had no answers."

Dr Janna Kenny, Consultant Clinical Geneticist, 
Children’s Health Ireland at Crumlin

The team’s work has already been recognised, 
winning Best Clinical Poster at the Irish Society 
of Human Genetics meeting in September 
2024. Looking ahead, they aim to expand 
the CINDI registry, grow recruitment to the 
EpiFUN study, and link with the European 
Rare Diseases Research Alliance (ERDERA) 
a European-wide initiative dedicated to 
improving diagnoses in genetic diseases.

With donor support, this research has the 
potential to transform the journey for children 
with rare neurogenetic conditions bringing 
quicker diagnoses, improved care pathways, 
and greater hope for families.

Pioneering Research into Pandemic-Era Childhood 
Development: 

From CORAL to FLORAL

Children’s Health Foundation supported 
the CORAL study (Impact of Coronavirus 
Pandemic on Allergic and Autoimmune 
Dysregulation in Infants Born During 
Lockdown), a groundbreaking project led by 
Professor Jonathan Hourihane, Consultant 
Paediatrician at Children’s Health Ireland 
and Head of Paediatrics at RCSI University of 
Medicine and Health Sciences.

The study followed a cohort of infants born 
during the first COVID-19 lockdown. Using 
parent questionnaires, clinical samples, and 
allergy testing, researchers tracked diet, home 
environment, infections, and microbiome 
development from birth to age two.

The results were remarkable. Despite fears 
that lockdown-related isolation might harm 
early development, CORAL found unexpected 
benefits, including:
•	 A more diverse and healthier gut 

microbiome, likely linked to extended 
breastfeeding.

•	 Fewer infections and reduced antibiotic 
use.

•	 Lower-than-expected rates of food 
allergies and eczema.

As Professor Hourihane explained:

“CORAL was the only study of its kind 
globally, and its findings challenged 
assumptions about pandemic-era 
infant development. It also raised 
important new questions.”

Building on Success:  
The FLORAL Study

Building on CORAL’s success, Professor 
Hourihane and his team are now leading 
the FLORAL study (Follow-On to CORAL), 
supported by significant funding from 
Research Ireland. FLORAL will:

•	 Re-examine the CORAL children at 
age five to see if early health benefits 
continue as they start school.

•	 Recruit a new cohort of 1,000 infants 
born between March and May 2025 across 
Dublin’s three main maternity hospitals 
The National Maternity Hospital (Holles 
Street), The Rotunda, and The Coombe for 
comparison with the “pandemic babies.”

•	 Collaborate with Professor Liam 
O’Mahony at APC Microbiome Ireland 
(UCC) to analyse immune development 
and allergy risk by identifying key 
microbiome patterns across both groups. 

Parents as Partners

A unique aspect of FLORAL is its emphasis on 
public engagement. Two parent volunteers 
from the original CORAL cohort are now part 
of the research team, ensuring findings are 
communicated clearly to families and that the 
study remains grounded in the needs of the 
community it serves.

By investing in pioneering research like CORAL 
Children’s Health Foundation donors are 
helping to advance global understanding of 
childhood development. This work not only 
improves healthcare for children today, but 
also shapes healthier futures for children in 
Ireland and around the world.
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Spreading the Joy  
of Christmas 
Christmas can be an especially difficult time 
for children in hospital, particularly those 
living with long-term health conditions. 
Many families are unable to be together at 
home, which can lead to feelings of isolation, 
sadness, and anxiety. 

Christmas Light Up 
The Christmas Light Up project is aimed to 
bring love, laughter and the magic of Christmas 
to the patients across Children's Health 
Ireland hospitals and urgent care centres. 
Children's Health Foundation sponsored the 
Christmas lights and festive decorations used 
in the Christmas Light Up, to bring a sense of 
normalcy and holiday spirit to patients and 
their families during a difficult time.   

For a child, spending Christmas in hospital 
can feel overwhelming; far from home, loved 
ones, and the festive spirit of the season. 
That’s why we fund a range of initiatives 
across Children’s Health Ireland hospitals and 
urgent care centres to help bring joy, comfort, 
and a sense of magic during the holidays. 
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Christmas Jumper Day
Christmas is often tagged as the most 
wonderful time of the year and for many 
across Children's Health Ireland, our 2024 
Christmas Jumper Day brought that 
sentiment to life.

Over 500 cheerful supporters across Ireland 
and beyond pulled on their boldest, brightest, 
and most brilliantly bad jumpers all in the 
name of a great cause. The 2024 Christmas 
Jumper Day, hosted by Children’s Health 
Foundation, brought a wave of festive spirit 
and heartfelt generosity, raising vital funds 
to support sick children in Children’s Health 
Ireland hospitals and urgent care centres 
across Ireland.

From glittering snowflakes to jingling 
reindeer, workplaces, schools, and community 
groups embraced the fun of dressing up with 
purpose. Among our amazing supporters was 
the team at Penney's who joined in the festive 
cheer by gifting pyjamas from their Late Late 
Toy Show Collection to young patients across 
Children’s Health Ireland sites.

Each donation from this campaign helps fund 
essential paediatric equipment, life-saving 
research, and patient and family support 
services at Children’s Health Ireland hospitals 
and urgent care centres, including Crumlin, 
Temple Street, Tallaght, and Connolly.
Behind every stitch and sequin was a shared 
message of hope: that together, we can help 
sick children smile even during their toughest 
days. A message of hope that our long-term 
patients like Grace need.

In January 2024, ten-year-old Grace went 
to school, dance, and gymnastics as usual. 
She was chatting to her coaches when she 
suddenly sat down, held her head, and began 
to have a seizure. Grace had never had a 
seizure before.

Fortunately, her gymnastics coach is a 
doctor in St Vincent’s hospital and contacted 

emergency services straightaway. Grace 
was brought to Children’s Health Ireland at 
Crumlin, where scans showed a bleed on the 
left side of her brain. She was then transferred 
to Temple Street for emergency brain surgery.

Prof. Darach Crimmins was the neurosurgeon 
on duty. After the surgery, he told Grace’s 
parents: “What I’m going to tell you is every 
parent’s worst nightmare. Grace is a very, very 
sick little girl.” They found a bleed caused 
by an Arterial Venus malformation (AVM). 
The AVM was too deep to surgically remove, 
so drains were placed in her head to relieve 
pressure. She was placed in an induced coma 
to help her brain stabilise.

Four days later, Grace opened her eyes for 
the first time. She could only move one 
hand and had no speech, communicating 
with thumbs up or down. Two weeks later, 
she said her first words: “hi” and “I love 
you.” Shortly afterwards, the drains were 
removed and Grace began using a hoist and 
then a wheelchair, giving her access to the 
schoolroom and therapy rooms. Staff lined 
the corridor in a guard of honour, clapping as 
she moved through the ward.

Grace’s recovery went from strength to 
strength thanks to her physio, occupational 
therapist, and speech therapist. She spent 
nine days in ICU and fourteen weeks in 
Temple Street. In May, Grace was discharged, 
leaving hospital on a crutch. She then 
began a ten-week journey in the National 
Rehabilitation Hospital. 

Grace’s story reflects that of many children 
who have spent time in hospital during the 
festive season. Thanks to the generosity of 
our supporters who participated in Christmas 
Jumper Day 2024, we were able to bring 
the magic of Christmas to Children’s Health 
Ireland hospitals and urgent care centres, 
helping to spread joy and lift the spirits of 
little patients. 
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Community in Action: 
Championing Sick 
Children Together
At Children’s Health Foundation, our 
supporters are at the heart of everything 
we do. In 2024, thousands of people across 
Ireland and beyond came together in creative, 
challenging, and heartfelt ways to raise funds 
for sick children. From baking cakes and 
running marathons to crossing continents on 
motorbikes, these incredible efforts directly 

funded life-saving care, pioneering research, 
and vital equipment at Children’s Health 
Ireland hospitals and urgent care centres.

Every euro raised, every mile walked, 
every event organised represents not just 
generosity but a deep, shared commitment  
to brighter futures for children.

The Great Irish Bake
The Great Irish Bake 2024 raised an 
outstanding €170,728, uniting cake-lovers 
nationwide through the joy of baking and the 
power of giving. With strong support from 
award-winning food writer and TV presenter 
Donal Skehan, generous sponsorship from 
Gem, and touching patient stories the 
campaign reached thousands across Ireland. 
All funds raised supported Children’s Health 
Ireland hospitals, making a tangible difference 
in the lives of children and families. The Great 
Irish Bake continues to be a joyful, meaningful 
event that connects communities with the 
real impact of their support.
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Corporate Partner 
Highlights 

Tesco

We were proud to continue our valued 
partnership with Tesco in 2024. Their ongoing 
commitment to supporting sick children and 
their families has had a meaningful impact 
once again this year as we celebrated 10 years 
of partnership. A key highlight was the release 
of Simon the Sloth, Tesco’s 2024 Christmas 
teddy, designed by young supporter Oisín. 
Since 2018, these limited-edition teddies have 
become a beloved tradition, with proceeds 
helping to fund vital services for children 
in hospital. We’re incredibly grateful to 
Tesco and its customers for their continued 
generosity and support.

Marathons
An incredible 180 women took part in the 
Women’s Mini Marathon raising a total of 
€84,782, and 24 participants took part in the 
Dublin Marathon, raising €91,957. We also 
had supporters run in the New York Marathon, 
Tokyo Marathon, Manchester Marathon, Great 
Limerick Run, Connemara Half, Connemara 
100, Kerry Ultra, Vancouver Marathon, Tallinn 
Marathon, Cork City Marathon and many other 
challenging events.

Route 66 Challenge
In September 2024, more than 90 dedicated 
motorcyslists embarked on an unforgettable 
journey - the Route 66 Challenge. Covering 
over 2,400 miles from Chicago to Santa Monica, 
this coast-to-coast ride across the United States 
raised a phenomenal €739,768 for Children’s 
Health Foundation. These funds are helping 
to advance life-saving care, ground-breaking 
research, and essential equipment across CHI 
hospitals and urgent care centres. The Route 
66 Challenge remains one of our most inspiring 
and high-impact fundraising events, a powerful 
example of what’s possible when community 
and compassion hit the road.

INTO

The Irish National Teachers' Organisation 
(INTO) and Children’s Health Foundation have 
shared a meaningful partnership for over 
30 years, united by a belief that every sick 
child deserves every chance. In 2024, INTO’s 
generous funding enabled the launch of the 
PLATYPUS research project, a vital three-year 
study focused on improving the detection and 
treatment of infection in premature babies, 
giving them a better chance of survival. This 
ongoing support reflects INTO’s deep and 
lasting commitment to the health and well-
being of children across Ireland, now and into 
the future.
 

Google UKI LCS

We welcomed the Google UKI LCS team 
as a new partner in 2024. Through their 
Champions for Children’s Health programme, 
the team’s creativity and dedication to 
improving the lives of sick children has 
already made a meaningful impact raising 
almost €50,000.
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Director’s Report 
The Directors of Children's Health Foundation 
(CHF) present this report, together with the 
audited financial statements, for the year 
ended 31 December 2024.

Children's Health Foundation is a registered 
charity with the principal objective of raising 
funds to support the work of Children's Health 
Ireland at Crumlin, Temple Street, Tallaght 
and Connolly and paediatric Research and 
Innovation, to ensure their facilities remain 
the best in class and that they have the 
necessary funding to continue research into 
new treatments and cures for paediatric 
illnesses and diseases.

Principal Activities
Children’s Health Foundation is guided by four 
key strategic pillars: 

1.	 Deliver sustainable income growth 

2.	 Nurture all stakeholder relationships  

3.	 Maximise our impact and  

4.	 Enhance our organisational health

Objectives and Outcomes
A review of the objectives and corresponding 
outcomes for Children's Health Foundation 
for 2024 follows under four headings:
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3. Maximise our Impact  

Objectives  
and Priorities  Performance and Outcomes  

Allocate funds to 
improve outcomes 
for sick children 

•	 Undertook grant applications and strategic alignment task 
processes for 2024. 

•	 €5.3m funds disbursed to projects and research in 2024. 

Communicate our 
impact clearly 

•	 New Head of Impact role was appointed. 

•	 Increased communication with our regular givers, with post  
and email engagement up an average of 18.8%.

•	 Website traffic grew 38% in total visits.

•	 Social media achieved 17.8 million impressions (+128.6%)  
and more than doubled engagements to 543,767 (+143.1%).

Build our brand 
•	 Established our Hub at the Crumlin hospital site. 

•	 Successful Christmas campaign carried out across all four  
hospital sites. 

Develop a data 
driven framework 
to measure success  

•	 Review of CRM system (Salesforce) to maximise its potential. 

•	 Regular reviews and analysis of Irish Charity Engagement Monitor 
and Foundation’s performance. 

4. Enhance our Organisational Health 

Objectives  
and Priorities  Performance and Outcomes  

 Value our people 

•	 Leadership programme delivered to Heads of Departments. 

•	 Team wide well-being and resilience training. 

•	 Employee Assistance Programme reviewed and communicated 
to the team. 

•	 5 staff events organised by our social committee. 

 Learn from 
continuous feedback 

•	 Skip level meetings encouraged among teams. 

•	 New KPI and annual review process introduced. 

•	 Information sharing through drop-in clinics and workshops. 

Create efficiencies 
to improve our 
processes 

•	 External review of organisational processes. 

•	 Completed quarterly reviews of organisational risks. 

Empower our people 
by investing in 
systems and trainings 

•	 Training grant available for professional development. 

•	 Team wide training on the New Ambition for the Foundation. 

•	 External learning platform implemented for teamwide training 
opportunities. 

•	 Skill set analysis conducted across the organisation to identify 
gaps and opportunities. 

•	 Review of finance operating and grants management systems. 

1. Deliver Sustainable Income Growth 

Objectives  
and Priorities  Performance and Outcomes  

Engage in 
effective activities 

•	 Fundraising Policy and Supporter Charter reviewed and updated. 

•	 Appointment of Director of Development. 

•	 Regular review and analysis of all fundraising activities. 

Conscious focus 
on costs  

•	 Decrease in overall fundraising costs.

•	 Regular review of return on investment on all projects and  
ensuring a balanced income base.

•	 Streamlining of suppliers and procurement processes. 

Continuously grow 
new supporter 
pipelines 

•	 Invested in the recruitment of new supporters through additional 
face to face fundraisers. 

•	 Audience Growth of 5.5% to 91,858 followers. Total new  
followers gained 4,840.

•	 Out of home media for cross organisational campaign for  
Christmas 2024. 

2. Nurture all Stakeholder Relationships 

Objectives  
and Priorities  Performance and Outcomes  

Drive best-in-class 
communication/
feedback 
mechanisms 

•	 4 major donor events were held in 2024. 

•	 GAP roadshows carried out across the hospital sites. 

•	 Over 26,000 supporter surveys were issued in 2024.

Deliver brilliant 
supporter 
experience 

•	 Developed a new Supporter Services function.

•	 Enhanced website’s donation journey.

•	 New call campaign undertaken to improve supporter stewardship. 

Continuous 
nurturing of our 
relationship with 
Children’s Health 
Ireland 

•	 Revised Memorandum of Agreement with Children’s Health  
Ireland signed in 2024. 
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•	 €134k for purchase of ENT Microscope in 
Clinical Engineering Theatre

•	 €48k for a Liquid Handling Robot 

€1.4m on patient staff and parental 
support services 
•	 €70k disbursed on Education, Training and 

Conferences for staff members across 
Children’s Health Ireland.

•	 Enhanced patient and family experience 
through support programs including the 
Giggle Fund, birthday, and reward initiatives, 
play equipment, and seasonal events.

•	 Provided critical funding for family 
support services such as parent 
accommodation, medical social work, 
palliative care grants, hardship funds, and 
travel bursaries for liver patients.

€0.2m on Ward and New service 
development 
•	 €237k disbursed for new services 

including initiatives like Sensory Hub for 
OPD and Phlebotomy and Therapy Garden 
for St Louise's Unit and The Laurels Unit, 
 

creating environments that nurture 
healing and comfort.

•	 Invested in innovative new services and 
facilities such as LED sky ceilings at the 
Laurels Clinic and a new Audiology room 
at St Frances Clinic Courtyard.

In 2024, a total of 265 grants were drawn 
down, delivering critical support across key 
areas of care and innovation:

•	 25 grants enabled pioneering research to 
advance treatment and understanding of 
childhood illness.

•	 64 grants funded the purchase of vital, 
lifesaving equipment, ensuring children 
receive the highest standard of care.

•	 164 grants supported patient and family 
services, providing comfort, compassion, 
and practical help during the most 
challenging times.

•	 12 grants were dedicated to 
redevelopment and new service initiatives, 
transforming hospital environments and 
expanding access to care.

Fundraising Activities 

Once again, supporters of sick children and 
their families were overwhelming in their 
generosity in 2024. An incredible €17.2m 
was raised through donations, legacies and 
fundraising campaigns with the Irish public 
finding new and unique ways to show up on 
behalf of children in hospital. 

New ways of connecting with donors and 
supporters continued to be our aim as we 
focused on improving our CRM data, our digital 
journeys and testing new ways of connecting 
and engaging different supporter segments. 

Despite the cost of fundraising initiatives 
increasing due to inflation, we had a tight 
focus on costs which ensured we reduced the 
overall cost of fundraising in 2024, resulting 
in more income being available to support our 
charitable endeavours. 

Our campaigns are a great way of engaging 
with the public and reminding them of the 
need to support sick children. Our annual 
Great Irish Bake, in its 16th year, successfully 
mobilised bakers nationwide with their 
baking and creative skills. We were once again 
grateful to our ambassador Donal Skehan and 
sponsor Gem for their support.

Achievements & Performance

Charitable Activities

In partnership with Children’s Health Ireland, 
the Foundation continue to place priority 
on investments that will have the greatest 
impact and meet the immediate needs for sick 
children in hospital in Ireland.  

Children’s Health Foundation raises funds to 
support our core pillars of funding;

•	 Life changing research,
•	 Vital life-saving equipment, 
•	 Patient staff and parental support services,
•	 Ward and New service development.

In 2024, the Foundation made a 
transformative impact by disbursing €5.3m 
across Children’s Health Ireland hospitals, 
urgent care centres and key research partners 
including Research Ireland and the National 
Children’s Research Centre now known as 
Research and Innovation Office (RIO) at 
Children’s Health Ireland.

Some highlights on the impact these funds 
over the last year include:

€1.6m invested in Life changing research 
•	 16 new Seed Funding grants awarded 

via RIO to ignite pioneering child health 
research and innovation across all 
Children’s Health Ireland sites. 

•	 3 research projects supported by CHF 
through a co-funding partnership with 
Science Foundation Ireland (SFI) on the  
SFI Frontiers of the Future project stream, 
1 co-funded and 2 fully funded by CHF.  
SFI and CHF funded research for  
‘Molecular mechanism and therapeutic 
potential of chromatin dysregulation  
in paediatric sarcomas’.

€2.1m dedicated to Vital equipment 
•	 €325k for purchase tandem mass 

Spectrometer analyser
•	 €169k for Acquisition of an Endoscopic 

Ultrasound 
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Financial Review

Fundraising Income for the year of €17.2m 
plus €0.5m from investments, after 
expenditure of €12m, resulting in a net 
income of €5.8m being available to carry 
forward for future commitments. A detailed 
commentary on the financial results is set 
out below.

Income

Fundraising income for the year of €17.2m 
was an increase on the previous year of 
€1.5m. The split of our fundraising income 
was as follows:

    Individual Giving 30%

    Corporate 25%

    Communities 18%

    Philanthropy 14%

    Campaigns 10%

    Other 3%

Total Income €15.7mTotal Income €17.2m

Expenditure

Expenditure is classified between expenditure 
on raising funds, charitable activities and 
governance costs that are further explained 
in Note 1. Expenditure on raising funds was 
€6.1m for the year compared to €5.7m for the 
previous year. 

Investments, Investment Policy  
and Governance

The Finance, Audit & Risk Committee of 
the Board regularly reviewed the financial 
performance of the Foundation including 
the performance of its investments. It 
was the policy of the Board that all funds 
not immediately required for operational 
purposes should be appropriately invested 
- either in deposit accounts with reputable 
financial institutions, for funds that may be 
required in the shorter term; or, with major 
Irish investment managers, for those funds 
not required in the short term.

Children’s Health Foundation's investment 
managers are listed in the information 
section of this report. Quarterly reports were 
received from those investment managers 
during the year.

Funds Employed and Financial Position

Total Reserves of the Foundation at year 
end were €42.5m. Of this total €16.1m 
was designated for projects approved by 
the Board and not paid by the year end 
to the hospitals and €12.8m was held in 
restricted funds to support specific projects 
and activities as decided by supporters. 
The balance of reserves of €13.6m was 
unrestricted, of which approximately €1.8m is 
required as a minimum reserve based on the 
Board's reserves policy to hold six months’ 
running costs of the Foundation for times of 
emergencies and uncertainties. This left
€11.8m at year end available for commitments 
for 2025 and onwards.

At Halloween, we held our annual Trick or 
Treat for sick children campaign, and we were 
delighted to have MiWadi as our sponsor 
again in 2024. Trick or Treat remains an iconic 
campaign in our Foundation’s annual calendar, 
Patient Méabh led 1200 supporters taking 
part around the country.

Christmas Jumper Day saw over 400 
supporters across Ireland don their most 
festive jumpers during the week of 9th 
December to raise vital funds for sick children. 

Meanwhile, our Car raffle and Christmas 
Raffles were a resounding success, raising 
an impressive €880k to support sick children. 
This included the chance to win a brand-new 
Hyundai i10 and a €10,000 cash prize, with 
the draw conducted by one of our patient 
superstars, Brody. The Foundation extends 
heartfelt thanks to all participants, sellers, 
and supporters for their generosity and 
commitment to improving the lives of  
young patients.

In 2024, we were proud to work with a wide 
range of individuals and groups who took on 
everything from abseils and motorcycle rides 
to tractor runs, head shaves, fitness challenges, 
and countless other imaginative fundraisers. 

180 supporters took part in the Women’s Mini 
Marathon, 24 in the Dublin marathon and as 
well as local support, we had representatives 
in New York, Tokyo, Manchester, Vancouver 
and Tallinn marathons enduring all kinds 
of conditions and personal achievements to 
support sick children in hospital. 

A highlight of the fundraising year came in 
September when more than 90 dedicated 
motorcyclists hit the open road for Children’s 
Health Foundation’s iconic Route 66 
Challenge, riding coast-to-coast across the 
United States in support of sick children in 
Ireland. This unforgettable journey, spanning 
over 2,400 miles from Chicago to Santa 
Monica, raised an incredible €739,768 to 
support life-saving care, ground-breaking 

research, and vital equipment. The Route 
66 Challenge continues to be one of our 
Foundation’s most impactful and inspiring 
fundraising events, powered by the 
commitment of an extraordinary community 
of riders and supporters.

Increasing our pipeline of regular donors 
continued in 2024 with our face-to-face 
recruitment campaign exceeding its target 
by 15%. We also achieved a 37% conversion 
rate on our tax top-up campaign which placed 
additional donations into the tax effective 
giving threshold.

Support from our corporate partners 
continued to remain strong in 2024, with 
ongoing support from several long-standing 
corporate partners including One4All, 
Penneys and Johnson & Johnson. Tesco's 
ten-year commitment has been remarkable, 
with their customers and colleagues having 
donated over €10 million. Their generosity has 
enabled the purchase of critical diagnostic and 
treatment equipment that has directly helped 
Children’s Health Ireland patients to achieve 
better health outcomes. New partnerships in 
2024 included West Pharma, Aerogen, Pure 
Telecom, Q Park, Woodies, Google and lQEQ,

Across Major Giving and Trusts and 
Foundations there were some significant gifts 
including those from Smurfit Kappa Westrock, 
JP McManus Foundation and the O’Flaherty 
Family Foundation. 
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We are also laying the foundations for 
ambitious growth. This means developing a 
more varied and sustainable income portfolio 
that can withstand economic shifts and 
funding challenges. We will focus on growing 
our base of direct supporters and ensuring 
that every fundraising activity is cost-effective, 
strategic, and impactful. At the same time, 
we are committed to cultivating an agile, 
innovative culture where ideas can be tested, 
refined, and scaled.

Finally, we are evolving the personality and 
identity of Children’s Health Foundation to 
meet the needs of the future. We aspire to 
be Ireland’s most recognised and trusted 
children’s charity, with a brand that truly 
reflects our values and the people we 
serve. By delivering exceptional supporter 
experiences and empowering our employees, 
volunteers, and beneficiaries to become 
champions of our mission, we will strengthen 
the connection to our cause.

Together with our community of supporters, 
patients and their families and healthcare 
partners, we will continue to drive change, 
deliver hope, and improve lives of sick children. 

Events After the  
Reporting Date
There were no significant events since the 
balance sheet date.

Going Concern
Based on our assessment of current trends 
and forecast activities and taking into account 
our best estimate of the impact of the current 
economic climate, the Board has a reasonable 
expectation that the Foundation has adequate 
resources to continue in operational existence 
for the foreseeable future. Thus, we continue 
to adopt the going concern basis in preparing 
the annual financial statements. Further 
details regarding the adoption of the going 
concern basis can be found in note 2 of the 
Financial Statements.

Structure, Governance  
and Management

Governing Document

The Foundation is an Irish company 
incorporated in 2019 under the Companies 
Act. It is a company limited by guarantee with 
no share capital with Ministerial consent to 
omit limited from the title. The Foundation is 
governed by a constitution.

The core charitable objectives for which the 
Foundation is established, are:

i.	 to foster, promote and advance the work 
of any children's hospital or hospitals 
in Ireland in providing in-patient and 
out-patient medical care of the highest 
standard in a physical and cultural 
environment designed to minimise the 
emotional stress of childhood illness for 
patients and their parents or guardians.

ii.	 to promote, foster and finance medical and 
scientific research into childhood illnesses, 
health and well being, to save and improve 
young lives.

As we fund commitments in the future from 
current reserves this ensures a sustainable 
funding model for sick children and reduces 
the exposure to the effect of economic 
shocks, and scenarios such as the pandemic on 
fundraising income. The Board therefore were 
satisfied that the Foundation was reasonably 
placed to meet its future commitments.

Plans for the Future

Short Term Plans (2025)

In the year ahead, in keeping with our strategy 
for 2025-2027, we look forward to continuing 
to plan for the future of Children’s Health 
Foundation which will change significantly 
with the opening of the new National 
Children’s Hospital. Until that point, our 
focus will also remain on being dedicated 
to supporting staff and children across the 
current hospitals and urgent care centres.

Our strategic plan also has a strong focus on 
continuing to build the foundations of our 
relatively new organisation, ensuring we have 
the correct processes, tools and people to 
enable the Foundation to grow and support 
more sick children and their families, more 
healthcare workers and more paediatric 
research. We will continue to deepen our 
working relationship with our Children’s 
Health Ireland colleagues and identify new 
areas of unmet need for our supporters to 
fund. Our supporters and volunteers are the 
only reason we can exist as an organisation, 
and we will be focused on engaging with them 
as we transition into new ways of working 
across a new hospital site and across new 
ways of driving support for sick children.

Long Term Plans

At Children’s Health Foundation, our 
commitment remains focused on ensuring that 
sick children and their families have access to 
the best possible care, comfort, and hope. This 
is only possible through strong partnerships 
with our healthcare and research colleagues, 
whose support helps us expand our impact in 
meaningful and measurable ways.

Children’s Health Foundation will continue 
to grow grant making efforts, reaching 
more children and families through targeted 
funding calls across Children’s Health 
Ireland hospitals and urgent care centres. 
The Foundation will invest further in 
pioneering paediatric research, with a clear 
focus on improving health outcomes for 
this generation and the next. To ensure the 
greatest possible impact, we will maintain 
strict financial efficiency, directing the 
maximum amount of funds raised towards 
frontline care, services, and innovation. 
We also recognise the importance of 
demonstrating the difference we make, and 
will continue to enhance how we measure, 
evaluate, and communicate our impact.

Partnerships will play a central role in our 
future. We will continue to work closely 
with Children’s Health Ireland to align our 
efforts and accelerate progress. Through 
collaborations with research institutions such 
as Research Ireland, universities, and other 
children’s charities, we will strengthen our 
ability to respond to complex needs and deliver 
even more for sick children and their families.

Operational excellence underpins everything 
we do. We are committed to maintaining the 
highest standards of governance, while also 
investing in our systems and skillsets to unlock 
our full potential. Our team is at the heart of 
our success, and we will continue to foster a 
workplace culture that is inclusive, purpose-
driven and people-centred. In everything we 
do, we aim to provide exceptional service to 
our supporters and stakeholders, building 
lasting trust and connection.
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Accountability, Transparency  
& Best Practice

The Board is committed to maintaining high 
standards of corporate governance and 
believes that this is a key element in ensuring 
the proper operation of the Foundation. 

There is a clearly defined division of 
responsibility between the Board and the 
Chief Executive who has responsibility for 
formulating strategy and policy within the 
parameters delegated to her by the Board.

To actively demonstrate openness, 
transparency and integrity to our beneficiaries 
and supporters, the Foundation operates 
under these three principles:

•	 Transparent reporting 
The Foundation prepares an annual report 
and financial statements in accordance 
with the Charity SORP (Standard of 

Recommended Practice under FRS102) 
and makes them available to the public on 
our website.

•	 Good governance 
The Board signed off on the Children’s 
Health Foundation, Charities Governance 
Code (issued by the Charities Regulator in 
November 2018) during the year for 2024 
and has all records on file as required by 
the Charities Regulator.

•	 Ethical fundraising  
The Foundation implemented all the 
requirements for the Statement of 
Guiding Principles of Fundraising in 2011 
and continually reviews its performance 
against these principles.

The Board met 8 times during the year (the 
quorum for Board meetings is four Directors); 
the Finance committee met 4 times during 
the year; the Governance Committee met 3 
times during the year with attendance (and 
eligibility) for all as follows:

Directors Board Meetings Finance, Audit  
& Risk Committee

Governance  
& Remuneration 
Committee

Mark Moran   8(8) 3(4) 3(3) 

John Chase   5(8) 2(4) n/a 

Julia Davenport   7(8) n/a 2(3) 

Eilish Hardiman   4(5) n/a n/a 

Owen Hensey   6(8) n/a n/a 

David McCann   4(5) 1(2) n/a 

Sinead McSweeney   5(7) n/a n/a 

David Phelan   6(8) n/a 3(3) 

Brendan Jennings   8(8) 4(4) n/a 

Oonah McCrann   8(8) n/a 3(3) 

Anne Kilgallen 1(2) n/a n/a 

FARC Representative 1 n/a 4(4) n/a

FARC Representative 2 n/a 4(4) n/a

Board of Directors, Officers,  
and Management

The Foundation is governed by a Board of 
Directors who serve in a voluntary capacity. 
The Board consists of a Chair and up to 
eleven Directors.

The Foundation-approved policy on Board 
tenure is as follows:

1.	 The term of office of a director is three  
(3) years.

2.	 A Director may be reappointed for up to 
a further two successive terms of three 
(3) years (being a maximum consecutive 
period of nine (9) years).

3.	 No person shall be entitled to be 
appointed as a Director for more than nine 
(9) years in succession.

The Board, on its initiative and on an exceptional 
basis, may exercise discretion to extend the 
maximum terms specified where it considers 
that such an extension would benefit the 
Foundation. Such discretion will be exercised on 
an annual basis and the Director concerned will 
be required to stand for re-election annually.
The current Directors and Chair are listed on 
page 11. 

The Directors and secretary, who served 
during the year except as noted for 
appointments and resignations are as follows:

Mark Moran (Chair)

John Chase

Julia Davenport 

Eilish Hardiman (resigned 3 September 2024)

Owen Hensey 

David McCann (resigned 31 August 2024)

Sinead McSweeney (resigned 28 November 
2024)

David Phelan

Brendan Jennings 

Onnah McCrann 

Anne Kilgallen (appointed 3 September 2024)

(Resigned 18 July 2025)

Company Secretary

Cara Secretaries Limited 

Board Committees
To support the Board, there are two sub-
committees, each of which have a clearly 
defined Terms of Reference, chaired by a 
Board member and include subject-matter 
experts where appropriate:

1.	 Finance, Audit and Risk Committee
2.	 Governance and Remuneration Committee

The Finance, Audit & Risk Committee assists 
the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities 
by providing an independent review of 
financial reporting and assisting the Board 
with, and overseeing, the Board's financial 
responsibilities. The Committee is responsible 
for all matters relating to the financial affairs 
of Children's Health Foundation and will 
provide the Board with an independent review 
of the budgetary process. The Committee 
also oversees the effectiveness of the risk 
management framework. The Committee 
includes two independent members with 
financial and investment expertise.

The Governance and Renumeration 
Committee supports the Board in fulfilling 
its governance obligations by providing an 
independent review of its legal and regulatory 
responsibilities, through the provision of 
adequate systems, policies and procedures, 
and to oversee overarching strategic and 
operational human resource issues ensuring 
that there is compliance with the relevant 
HR legal and regulatory requirement and 
adequate Board succession planning. In 
addition, it is responsible for ensuring that 
remuneration and reward practices are fair, 
responsible, and compliant with legal and 
regulatory requirements.    

In order to ensure best Governance practice, 
the Board monitors conflict of interest and 
conflict of loyalties at each board meeting - all 
directors must declare any conflicts at the 
start of each Board meeting and any such 
conflicts are recorded in the minutes.



Annual Report and Financial Statements 2024

DRAFT DRAFT

58 59Directors' Report

Category CHF
Appetite

Description Mitigation  
(Actions to treat the risk)

Governance Averse Focus on strong governance 
ensures Children’s Health 
Foundation has the highest 
standards of transparency 
and oversight by the Board 
of Directors into how funds 
are raised from the public 
and how those funds are 
disbursed for maximum 
impact for sick children.

Governance & Compliance 
Lead in place to ensure regular 
monitoring and review of 
policies and procedures against 
legislation and standards.

The Board sub-committee on 
governance meets regularly 
to focus on new policy 
development, to review and 
sign off on the CRA Governance 
Code, and to consider any 
changes in legislation or 
standards which will require 
changes to policy or procedures 
in the Foundation.

Strategic Bold To set ambitious fundraising 
targets to deliver sustained 
and meaningful support for 
sick children in Ireland while 
being mindful of costs and 
commitments Children’s 
Health Foundation have 
undertaken. 

Interim Strategic Plan 2024 
developed to guide the 
organisation over 12-month 
period to help achieve our 
vision and mission. The Strategy 
details our strategic objectives 
and the actions needed to 
achieve them. 

Compliance Averse If Children’s Health 
Foundation fails to comply 
with law or regulation, the 
Foundation may face a fine 
or other legal or regulatory 
action, resulting in a 
significant Public Relations 
and/or financial impact to 
the Foundation. 

Ensuring that Children’s Health 
Foundation is governed in line 
with the CRA Governance Code, 
which is reported to the CRA 
annually and records are kept 
accurately and appropriately. 

Operational Balanced Ensuring operational 
continuity and staff 
retention.  

Upskilling of existing staff to 
negate reliance on a single 
individual for key operational 
tasks. 

Management, setting pay  
and remuneration

The Board delegates the day-to-day 
management of the Foundation to an 
executive management team under the 
leadership of a Chief Executive Officer (CEO). 
Matters such as policy, strategic planning, 
and budgets are drafted by the executive 
management team for consideration and 
approval by the Board, who then monitor the 
implementation of these plans.

The Foundation sets remuneration for all 
staff based on averages within the not-for-
profit sector and a benchmarking exercise was 
conducted by an external stakeholder in 2024.

Remuneration of the Board

The members of the Board cannot, under the 
governing documents, receive remuneration 
for services to the Foundation and may 
only be reimbursed for incidental expenses 
claimed. There were no expenses paid to any 
Directors in the year (2023: €nil).

Lobbying and Political Contributions

There were no political contributions in 2024 
(2023: Nil).

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Finance, Audit and Risk Committee have 
oversight of risk on behalf of the Board of 
Directors. They set the policy and procedures 
in relation to risk for the Foundation. The 
committee completes a detailed review of the 
risk register at least biannually at committee 
meetings and presents the red (high) risks 
at every board meeting. Risk management is 
factored into the Foundation's operational 
planning, performance management, audit, 
and monitoring.

Risks are split between seven main 
categories as defined by the Charities 
Regulator Authority (CRA): Governance, 
strategic, compliance, operational, financial, 
reputational, and environmental risks.

The table below describes each risk category 
setting out the risk appetite and the guiding 
principles to treat each category.
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Staff and Volunteers
The Foundation acknowledges with immense 
gratitude the hard work, dedication and 
personal care and attention that its employees 
give to their roles daily.

Accounting Records
The measures that the directors have taken 
to secure compliance with the requirements 
of sections 281 to 285 of the Companies Act 
2014 regarding the keeping of accounting 
records are the employment of appropriately 
qualified accounting personnel and the 
maintenance of computerised accounting 
systems. The company's accounting records 
are maintained at the company's business 
address, 14-18 Drimnagh Road, Crumlin, 
Dublin 12.

Statement on Relevant 
Audit Information
Each of the persons who are directors at the 
time when this Directors' report is approved 
has confirmed that:
•	 so far as the director is aware, there is no 

relevant audit information of which the 
company's auditors are unaware, and

•	 The directors have taken all the steps that 
ought to have been taken as a director in 
order to be aware of any relevant audit 
information and to establish that the 
company's auditors are aware of that 
information.

This confirmation is given and should be 
interpreted in accordance with the provisions 
of Section 330 of the Companies Act 2014.

Auditors
The auditors, Deloitte Ireland LLP, Chartered 
Accountants and Statutory Audit Firm, 
continue in office in accordance with Section 
383(2) of the Companies Act 2014.

Approved by the Board and signed on its 
behalf by

Mark Moran, Chair                                                                                                 
Brendan Jennings, Director

Date: 2nd October 2025

Directors' Responsibilities 
Statement
The directors are responsible for preparing 
the directors' report and the financial 
statements in accordance with the Companies 
Act 2014.

Irish company law requires the directors 
to prepare financial statements for each 
financial year. Under the law, the directors 
have elected to prepare the financial 
statements in accordance with FRS 102 The 
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in 
the UK and Republic of Ireland issued by the 
Financial Reporting Council ("relevant financial 
reporting framework"). Under company law, 
the directors must not approve the financial 
statements unless they are satisfied that 
they give a true and fair view of the assets, 
liabilities, and financial position of the 
Foundation as at the financial year end date 
and of the surplus or deficit of the company 
for the financial year and otherwise comply 
with the Companies Act 2014.

In preparing those financial statements, the 
directors are required to:
•	 select suitable accounting policies for the 

company financial statements and then 
apply them consistently.

Category CHF
Appetite

Description Mitigation  
(Actions to treat the risk)

Reputational Averse Negative Public Relations 
impacting on Children's 
Health Ireland and general 
enhanced scrutiny of 
governance in the charity 
sector can cause knock 
on reputational damage 
to Children’s Health 
Foundation. Ongoing 
scandals in the charity sector 
impact all organisations.

Multiple streams of 
communication between 
Children’s Health Foundation 
and Children’s Health Ireland. 
Crisis communications plan 
in place to allow CHF to react 
quickly and positively should the 
need arise. 

Finance Balanced 
& Averse

Foundation’s approach to 
investments is balanced 
and all other financial 
risk is averse. Rigorous 
financial controls and strong 
reporting in place with high 
integrity of results to ensure 
appropriate management 
of our portfolio of funds.

•  Grants Approval Process.
•  �Development in alignment 

with Children’s Health Ireland. 
•  �Continuous improvement of 

all finance process, including 
month end close, budgeting 
and forecasting, with details 
analysis.

•  �Updating the approval matrix, 
improved segregation of 
duties, bank reconciliation 
processes.

Environmental 
External 

Balanced External factors can 
influence the progress of 
Children’s Health Foundation 
and have a bearing on 
its fortunes, these are 
divided into two categories: 
Children’s Health Ireland 
hospitals and general 
environmental. 

Children’s Health Ireland 
Hospitals - Regular joint 
meetings now in place to 
ensure constant communication 
with Children’s Health Ireland, 
as well as an agreed patient 
consent process across both 
organisations crucial for sharing 
patient stories. 

External environment - CRA 
Governance Code Compliance, 
and external audit to ensure 
that any potential external risks 
are identified and mitigated. 

Taking the above risks into consideration, the Board of Directors are satisfied that systems are 
in place to monitor, manage and mitigate major risks. These systems provide reasonable but not 
absolute assurance against the possible occurrence of these risks. 
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Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance 
with International Standards on Auditing 
(Ireland) (ISAs (Ireland)) and applicable law. 
Our responsibilities under those standards 
are described below in the “Auditor's 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements” section of our report.  

We are independent of the company in 
accordance with the ethical requirements 
that are relevant to our audit of the financial 
statements in Ireland, including the Ethical 
Standard issued by the Irish Auditing and 
Accounting Supervisory Authority, and we 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with these requirements. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have 
concluded that the directors’ use of the going 
concern basis of accounting in the preparation 
of the financial statements is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we 
have not identified any material uncertainties 
relating to events or conditions that, 
individually or collectively, may cast significant 
doubt on the company’s ability to continue as 
a going concern for a period of at least twelve 
months from when the financial statements 
are authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities 
of the directors with respect to going 
concern are described in the relevant 
sections of this report.

Other information

The other information comprises the 
information included in the Annual Report 
and Audited Financial Statements, other 

than the financial statements and our 
auditor’s report thereon. The directors 
are responsible for the other information 
contained within the Annual Report and 
Audited Financial Statements. Our opinion on 
the financial statements does not cover the 
other information and, except to the extent 
otherwise explicitly stated in our report, 
we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon. 

Our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether 
the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears 
to be materially misstated. If we identify such 
material inconsistencies or apparent material 
misstatements, we are required to determine 
whether there is a material misstatement 
in the financial statements or a material 
misstatement of the other information. If, 
based on the work we have performed, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement 
of this other information, we are required to 
report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the Directors' 
Responsibilities Statement, the directors 
are responsible for the preparation of the 
financial statements and for being satisfied 
that they give a true and fair view and 
otherwise comply with the Companies Act 
2014, and for such internal control as the 
directors determine is necessary to enable 
the preparation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the 
directors are responsible for assessing the 
company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless 

•	 make judgements and estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent.

•	 state whether the financial statements 
have been prepared in accordance with the 
applicable accounting standards, identify 
those standards, and note the effect and 
the reasons for any material departure 
from those standards; and

•	 prepare the financial statements on 
the going concern basis unless it is 
inappropriate to presume that the 
company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for ensuring 
that the company keeps or causes to be kept 
adequate accounting records which correctly 
explain and record the transactions of the 
company, enable at any time the assets, 
liabilities, financial position and profit or 
loss of the company to be determined with 
reasonable accuracy, enable them to ensure 
that the financial statements and directors' 
report comply with the Companies Act 
2014 and enable the financial statements 
to be audited. They are also responsible for 
safeguarding the assets of the company and 
hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other 
irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the 
maintenance and integrity of the corporate 
and financial information included on the 
company's website.

 

Independent Auditor's 
Report to the Members 
of Children's Health 
Foundation

Report on the audit of the financial 
statements

Opinion on the financial statements of 
Children's Health Foundation (the 'company')
In our opinion the financial statements:

•	 give a true and fair view of the assets, 
liabilities and financial position of the 
company as at 31 December 2024 and 
of the net movement in funds for the 
financial year then ended; and

•	 have been properly prepared in accordance 
with the relevant financial reporting 
framework and, in particular, with the 
requirements of the Companies Act 2014.

The financial statements we have audited 
comprise:

•	 the Statement of Financial Activities;
•	 the Balance Sheet;
•	 the Statement of Cash Flows; and
•	 the related notes 1 to 25, including a 

summary of significant accounting policies 
as set out in note 1.

The relevant financial reporting framework 
that has been applied in their preparation is 
the Companies Act 2014 and FRS 102 ‘The 
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in 
the UK and Republic of Ireland’ issued by the 
Financial Reporting Council (“the relevant 
financial reporting framework”).  
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the directors either intend to liquidate the 
company or to cease operations, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit 
of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditor's report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with 
ISAs (Ireland) will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis 
of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities 
for the audit of the financial statements is 
located on IAASA’s website at: 
https://iaasa.ie/publications/description-
of-the-auditors-responsibilities-for-the-
audit-of-the-financial-statements/ 
This description forms part of our  
auditor’s report.

Report on other legal  
and regulatory requirements

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the 
Companies Act 2014

Based solely on the work undertaken in the 
course of the audit, we report that:

•	 We have obtained all the information and 
explanations which we consider necessary 
for the purposes of our audit.

•	 In our opinion the accounting records of 
the company were sufficient to permit 
the financial statements to be readily and 
properly audited.

•	 The financial statements are in agreement 
with the accounting records.

•	 In our opinion the information given in 
the directors’ report is consistent with the 
financial statements.

•	 In our opinion, those parts of the directors’ 
report specified for our review, which does 
not include sustainability reporting when 
required by Part 28 of the Companies Act 
2014, have been prepared in accordance 
with the Companies Act 2014.

Matters on which we are required to 
report by exception

Based on the knowledge and understanding 
of the company and its environment obtained 
in the course of the audit, we have not 
identified material misstatements in the 
directors' report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the 
provisions in the Companies Act 2014 which 
require us to report to you if, in our opinion, 
the disclosures of directors’ remuneration and 
transactions specified by law are not made.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company’s 
members, as a body, in accordance with Section 
391 of the Companies Act 2014. Our audit 
work has been undertaken so that we might 
state to the company’s members those matters 
we are required to state to them in an auditor’s 
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest 
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or 
assume responsibility to anyone other than 
the company and the company’s members as a 
body, for our audit work, for this report, or for 
the opinions we have formed.

Marguarita Martin
For and on behalf of Deloitte Ireland LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Audit 
Firm, Deloitte & Touche House, 29 Earlsfort 
Terrace, Dublin 2
2nd October 2025
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NOTES 2024 2023

€'000 €'000

FIXED ASSETS

Tangible assets 13 1,464 1,662

CURRENT ASSETS

Investments 14 22,796 4,060

Debtors 16 59 81

Cash and cash equivalent    15 18,599 31,571

41,454 35,712

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Creditors: Amounts falling due within one-year 17 (464) (726)

Net Current Assets 40,990 34,986

NET ASSETS 42,454 36,648

FUNDS OF THE CHARITY: 

Unrestricted funds 21 13,609 13,597

Designated funds 21 16,088 11,663

Restricted fund 21 12,757 11,388

22 42,454 36,648

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf by:

Mark Moran						      Brendan Jennings 
Chair							       Director

Date: 02 October 2025

BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2024

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

2024
Unrestricted

Funds

2024
Restricted

Funds

2024
Total

2023
Unrestricted

Funds

2023
Restricted

Funds

2023
Total

NOTES €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

INCOME FROM:

Donations and 
fundraising activities

5 13,586 3,234 16,820 11,701 3,682 15,383

Other Income 6 369 60 429 353 14 367

Total Income 13,955 3,294 17,249 12,054 3,696 15,750

EXPENDITURE ON: 

Fundraising 
activities

7 (6,063) - (6,063) (5,688) - (5,688)

Governance costs 7A (123) - (123) (97) - (97)

Charitable activities 8 (4,267) (1,500) (5,767) (6,482) (1,758) (8,240)

Total Expenditure (10,453) (1,500) (11,953) (12,267) (1,758) (14,025)

Net gain on 
investments 

511 - 511 611 - 611

Net income  
for the year

4,013 1,794 5,807 398 1,938 2,336

Taxation 12 - - - - - -

Net movement  
in funds

4,013 1,794 5,807 398 1,938 2,336

RECONCILIATION  
OF FUNDS

Total funds  
brought forward

25,260 11,388 36,648 25,873 8,439 34,312

Transfers 424 (424) - (1,011) 1,011 -

Total funds  
carried forward

29,697 12,758 42,454 25,260 11,388 36,648

There are no other recognised gains or losses other than those listed above and the net movement in funds for the 
financial year. All income and expenditure derive from continuing activities.
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1. Accounting Policies

The principal accounting policies aresummarised below. 
They have all been applied consistently throughout the 
current and the preceding financial year.

Basis of Preparation

Children's Health Foundation is a company incorporated 
in Ireland under the Companies Act 2014. The address of 
the registered office is 14-18 Drimnagh Road, Crumlin, 
Dublin 12. The nature of Children's Health Foundation's 
operations and its principal activities are set out in the 
directors' report. In accordance with Section 1180(8) of 
the Companies Act 2014, the company is exempt from 
including the word "Limited" in its name. The company is 
limited by guarantee and has no share capital.

The financial statements have been prepared on a going 
concern basis in accordance with the historical cost 
convention. The financial reporting framework that 
has been applied in their preparation is the Companies 
Act 2014, FRS102 "The Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland" issued by 
the Financial Reporting Council and the Statement of 
Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing 
their financial statements in accordance with FRS102 ("the 
Charities SORP") as published by the Charity Commission 
for Northern Ireland and the Office of the Scottish Charity 
Regulator which are recognised by the UK Financial 
Reporting Council (FCR) as the appropriate bodies to issue 
SORPs for the charity sector.

The functional currency of Children's Health Foundation 
is considered to be Euro because that is the currency 
of the primary economic environment in which the 
company operates.

Income

Income is recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Activities (SOFA) in accordance with SORP rules which are 
based on three criteria being met which are entitlement, 
measurement, and probability.

Research grant income is deferred as it relates to income 
received that has conditions attached to it and is released 
to income once the associated project costs are incurred for 
the relevant research project and the conditions are met.

As with many similar charitable organisations, independent 
groups from time to time organise fundraising activities 
in the name of Children's Health Foundation. However, 
as amounts collected in this way are outside the control 
of the Foundation, they are not included in the financial 
statements until received by the Foundation.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

NOTES 2024 2023

€'000 €'000

NET INCOME FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR 5,807 2,336

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Depreciation charge 200 191

Interest receivable (348) (6)

Decrease in debtors 22 166

(Decrease)/Increase  in creditors  

Income from receipt of equity instrument

(262)

(4)

98

(17)

Fair value movements on investments (507) (611)

NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 4,908 2,157

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Deposit interest received 116 6

Deposit interest received – Short Term 4 -

Proceeds from sale of investment in equity instrument - 2

Short term deposits (18,000) -

Purchase of fixed assets 13 - (67)

NET CASH FLOWS USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES   (17,880) (59)

(DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (12,972) 2,098

Cash and cash equivalent at the beginning of the year 31,571 29,473

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT AT THE END OF THE YEAR 18,599  31,571

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2024

Bequests/Legacies in kind are accounted for at valuation.

Grants

Grants are issued on a cash basis as costs are incurred by 
beneficiaries. Expenditure incurred on research projects 
are recognised as a liability in the accounts.

Government Grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is 
reasonable assurance that the Foundation will comply 
with the conditions attached to them and that the grants 
will be received. Government grants that are receivable 
as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred 
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support 
to the Foundation with no future related costs are 
recognised as income in the period in which they are 
received. Amounts are recognised as income over the 
periods necessary to match them with the related costs 
and are deducted in reporting the related expense.

Expenditure

All expenditure is accounted for on the accrual basis. 
The Foundation records expenditure as expenditure 
on raising funds; expenditure on charitable activities 
and expenditure on support costs which are allocated 
between expenditure on raising funds and expenditure on 
charitable activities.

•	 Expenditure on raising funds include costs directly 
associated with generating fundraising income. 
Examples of these are direct fundraising salaries, 
donor acquisition costs, marketing, support materials 
and event costs.

•	 Expenditure on charitable activities include grants 
made in pursuit of the Foundation's objectives 
of promoting medical and scientific research and 
funding to Children's Health Ireland at Crumlin and 
Temple Street and the National Children's Research 
Centre. These are primarily made up of grants issued 
to Children’s Health Ireland and National Children’s 
Research Centre and in addition, includes an allocation 
of Children’s Health Foundation staff who are 
responsible for grant management and program 
support and an allocation of hospital literature and 
promotional materials.

•	 Other expenditure includes those support costs 
incurred to manage the funds generated by the 
Foundation. These include salary costs, governance, IT, 
HR costs and audit fees. Support costs are allocated to 
expenditure on raising funds and charitable activities. 
Allocation methods used are staff numbers, staff time 
and space occupied.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 (cont'd.)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 (cont'd.)

Funds Accounting

The Foundation maintains the following funds:

Unrestricted General Funds

Unrestricted funds represent amounts which are 
expendable at the discretion of the directors in the 
furtherance of the objectives of the charity.

Designated Funds

Designated funds are unrestricted funds which have been 
ring-fenced by the directors for major projects committed 
for funding for Children's Health Ireland as detailed in 
note 21. Conditions are attached to designated funds, and 
the Foundation can redistribute funds if these conditions 
are not satisfied.

Restricted Funds

Restricted funds represent donations which are subject 
to specific conditions as specified by the donors or 
grant making institutions. Expenditure which meets this 
criterion is allocated to the relevant fund.

Foreign Currency

Transactions in foreign currency are recorded at the rate 
ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated 
at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. 
All differences are taken to the Statement of Financial 
Activities.

Tangible Fixed Assets

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost, less accumulated 
depreciation. Depreciation of fixed assets is provided on 
cost in equal instalments over the estimated useful lives of 
the assets. The annual rates of depreciation are as follows:
•	 Buildings - 2% 
•	 Fixtures and Fittings -10% 
•	 Office and computer equipment - 20%.

Investments

Investments are shown at fair value. Unrealised 
movements on revaluation are included in the SOFA. 
Income from investments is recognised in the financial 
period as it is receivable.

Pensions

The Foundation makes contributions to pension plans 
selected by relevant employees and administers 
contributions made by and on behalf of the employees 
who are invested in PRSAs. The amounts charged to the 
SOFA in respect of pension costs are the contributions 

payable in the year. Differences between contributions 
payable in the financial period and contributions actually 
paid are shown as either accruals or prepayments in the 
balance sheet.

Short-term deposits

Short-term deposits are recognised initially at fair value, 
including transaction costs incurred. Subsequent to 
initial recognition, short-term deposits are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less 
any impairment losses.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank and in hand is held to meet short-term cash 
commitments as they fall due rather than for investment 
purposes and includes all cash equivalents held in the form 
of short-term highly liquid investments. Cash equivalents 
are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash and that are 
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. A cash 
equivalent will normally have a short maturity of three 
months or less from the date of acquisition.

Financial Instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised 
when the company becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument.

Financial liabilities are classified according to the 
substance of the contractual arrangements entered into.

(i) Financial assets and liabilities
All financial assets and liabilities are initially measured 
at transaction price (including transaction costs), unless 
the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction. If 
an arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, the 
financial asset or financial liability is measured at the 
present value of the future payments discounted at a 
market rate of interest for a similar debt instrument.

Financial assets are derecognised when and only when a) 
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial 
asset expire or are settled, b) the company transfers to 
another party substantially all of the risks and rewards 
of ownership of the financial asset, or c) the company, 
despite having retained some significant risks and rewards 
of ownership, has transferred control of the asset to 
another party and the other party has the practical ability 
to sell the asset in its entirety to an unrelated third party 
and is able to exercise that ability unilaterally and without 
needing to impose additional restrictions on the transfer.

Financial liabilities are derecognised only when the 
obligation specified in the contract is discharged, 
cancelled or expires.

Balances that are classified as payable or receivable 
within one year on initial recognition are measured at the 
undiscounted amount of the cash or other consideration 
expected to be paid or received, net of impairment.

Short-term deposits are recognised initially at fair value, 
including transaction costs incurred. Subsequent to 
initial recognition, short-term deposits are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less 
any impairment losses.

2. Going Concern

The Foundation had net current assets of €41m (2023: 
€35.0m), including €36.8m (2023: €31.6m) in cash at 
bank and other liquid investments at the year end and 
had €13.6m (2023: €13.6m) of unrestricted reserves at 
that date.

The financial statements have been prepared on a going 
concern basis. The directors have considered the impact 
of macroeconomic factors including the cost-of-living 
crisis, rising interest rates and the impact of the Ukrainian 
and Gaza conflicts on the fundraising sector. Given the 
Foundation's main sources of income are currently from 
voluntary sources and fundraising activities, there is a 
clear possibility that the Foundation's operations could be 
affected in 2025/2026, and its incoming resources could 
be disrupted should further additional or unknown events 
continue for the coming year.

Management and the Board have reviewed the 
Foundation's projections, and consider that the 
projections, together with the reserves held indicate, that 
the company has adequate resources to operate within 
the level of its current cash flows and reserves for the 
foreseeable future (at least twelve months from the date 
of approval of these financial statements).

Thus, they continue to adopt the going concern basis of 
accounting in preparing the annual financial statements. 
Accordingly, these financial statements do not include 
any adjustments to the carrying amount and classification 
of assets and liabilities that may arise if the company was 
unable to continue as a going concern.

3. �Critical Accounting Judgements and Key 
Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the Company's accounting policies, 
which are described in note 1, the directors are required 
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not 
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and 
associated assumptions are based on historical experience 
and other factors that are relevant. Actual results may 
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed 
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised 
if the revision affects only that period or in the period of 
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both 
current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying the Foundation’s 
accounting policies.

There were no critical judgements made by the directors 
during the financial year.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Tangible Fixed Assets:
In Note 13 to the financial statements, tangible assets 
are stated at cost, less depreciation. To calculate the 
depreciation of tangible assets, the Directors of the 
Foundation estimate the useful lives of a specific asset 
class considering the type of assets, past experience, 
estimated residual value and the expected useful life.

Buildings are assessed for indicators of impairment at 
each balance sheet date. If there is objective evidence 
of impairment, an impairment loss is recognised in the 
statement of financial activities.

4. Company Status

The Company is a company limited by guarantee. Every 
member of the company undertakes to contribute to the 
assets of the company in the event of the company wound 
up while he/she is a member, or within one year after he/
she ceases to be a member, for payment of the debts and 
liabilities of the company contracted before he/she ceases 
to be a member, and of the costs, charges and expense 
of winding up, and for the adjustment of the rights of the 
contributors among themselves, such amounts as may be 
required not exceeding €1.8m.
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7(a). Governance costs

2024
Unrestricted

€’000

2024
Restricted

€’000

2024
Total
€’000

2023
Total
€’000

Payroll 92 - 92 90 

Privacy Engine 5 - 5 4 

Associated Costs 26 - 26 3

123 - 123 97

8. Expenditure on Charitable Activities

Grants 
Unrestricted

2024

Direct & 
Support Costs 

Unrestricted 
2024

Total
Unrestricted

2024

Grants 
Restricted &  

Related 
Expenses 2024

Total  
2024

Activity €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

Research 1,110 130 1,240 506 1,746

Medical Equipment 1,994 171 2,165 125 2,290

Patient & Parental  
Support service

611 109 720 742 1,462

Redevelopment & New  
Service Development

122 20 142 127 269

3,837 430 4,267 1,500 5,767

The Foundation had designated funds of €16.1m at 31 December 2024, awaiting disbursement (See Note 21).

Grants 
Unrestricted

2023

Direct & 
Support Costs 

Unrestricted 
2023

Total
Unrestricted

2023

Grants 
Restricted &  

Related 
Expenses 2023

Total  
2023

Activity €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

Research 2,319 248 2,567 696 3,263

Medical Equipment 2,002 214 2,216 601 2,817

Patient & Parental Support 
service

953 102 1,055 286 1,341

Redevelopment & New Service 
Development

582 62 644 175 819

5,856 626 6,482 1,758 8,240

The Foundation had designated funds of €11.7m on 31 December 2023, awaiting disbursement (See Note 21).

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 (cont'd.)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 (cont'd.)

5. Donations And Legacies
 		  2024	 2024	 2024	 2023
 		  Unrestricted	 Restricted	 Total	 Total
 		  €’000	 €’000	 €’000	 €’000

Individual Giving & Legacies 	 4,614	 566	 5,180	 5,063 

Communities & Campaigns 	 3,925	 875	 4,800	 4,869 

Corporate, Trusts & Major Gifts 	 5,024	 1,791	 6,815	 5,445 

Other 		  23	 2	 25	 6 

 		  	 	 	

 		  13,586	 3,234	 16,820	 15,383	
		  	 	 	

6. Other Income
		  2024	 2024	 2024	 2023
		  Unrestricted	 Restricted	 Total	 Total
 		  €’000	 €’000	 €’000	 €’000

Deposit Interest		  348	 -	 348	 6

Dividend Income		  2	 -	 2	 1

Equity Instruments  		  4	 -	 4	 17

ICS – Oncology		  -	 60	 60	 -

Debra Ireland		  -	 -	 -	 14

VAT - charity compensation scheme	 15	 -	 15	 329

 		  	 	 	

		  369	 60	 429	 367	
		  	 	 	

7. Expenditure On Raising Funds
		  2024	 2024	 2024	 2023
		  Unrestricted	 Restricted	 Total	 Total
		  €’000	 €’000	 €’000	 €’000

	

Individual Giving & Legacies 	 1,946	 -	 1,946	 1,474 

Communities & Campaigns 	 1,788	 -	 1,788	 1,582 

Corporates, Trusts & Major Gifts 	 1,090	 -	 1,090	 1,488 

Other 		  243	 -	 243	 240 

Support Costs (Note 9) 		  996	 -	 996	 904 

 		  	 	 	

 	  	 6,063	 -	 6,063	 5,688	
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9. Analysis of Support Costs
Support costs are those costs incurred to manage the funds generated by Children's Health Foundation. Allocation 
methods used to apportion to charitable activities are staff numbers on activities for all headings below except 
for premises costs and depreciation which are allocated based on space occupied. These costs are allocated across 
expenditure on raising funds and charitable activities as noted below.

Fundraising 

Activities 

2024 

€'000

 

Charitable 

Activities 

2024

€'000 

Total 

Support Costs 

2024 

€'000 

Salaries 490 102 592

Travel and accommodation costs - - -

Administration & Communications 154 - 154

Premises costs 50 - 50

Professional & Governance costs 40 - 40

Depreciation 200 - 200

Banking & Finance costs 62 - 62

 Total 996 102 1,098

Analysis of support costs – prior year:

	

Fundraising 

Activities 

2023 

€'000

 

Charitable 

Activities 

2023

€'000 

Total 

Support Costs 

2023 

€'000 

Salaries 459 161 620

Travel and accommodation costs 3 1 4

Administration & Communications 131 40 171

Pension costs 19 3 22

Professional & Governance costs 38 11 49

Depreciation 165 26 191

Banking & Finance costs 88 - 88

Total 903 242 1,145

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 (cont'd.)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 (cont'd.)

8(a). Direct and Support Costs Unrestricted Analysis 

		  Direct	 Support	 Total
		  Costs	 Costs	 Costs
		  2024	 2024	 2024
		  €’000	 €’000	 €’000

Research 99 31 130

Medical Equipment 130 41 171

Patient & Parental Support service 83 26 109

Redevelopment & New Service 
Development

15 5 20

327 103 430

8(b). Direct and Support Costs Unrestricted Analysis Prior Year

		  Direct	 Support	 Total
		  Costs	 Costs	 Costs
		  2023	 2023	 2023
		  €’000	 €’000	 €’000

Research 152 96 248

Medical Equipment 131 83 214

Patient & Parental Support service 63 39 102

Redevelopment & New Service 
Development

38 24 62

384 242 626

Support costs include salary costs, governance, IT, HR and audit fees. These costs are allocated to charitable activities 
using allocation methods of staff numbers and space occupied.
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12. Taxation
In accordance with the provisions of section 207 (as applied to companies by Section 76) Section 609 (Capital Gains 
Tax) and Section 266 (Deposit Interest Retention Tax) of the Taxes Consolidation Act, 1997, under charity number 
CHY13534, Children’s Health Foundation has been granted a tax exemption. This exemption, which applies to 
Corporation Tax, Capital Gains Tax and Deposit Retention Tax, extends to income and property of Children’s Health 
Foundation.

13. Tangible Assets

Buildings Fixtures & 
Fittings

Office 
equipment

Computer 
equipment

Total

Cost €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

At 1 January 2024 1,676 171 40 747 2,634

Additions - - - - -

Retirement - - (1) (7) (8)

At 31 December 2024 1,676 171 39 740 2,626

Accumulated Depreciation

At 1 January 2024 667 35 20 250 972

Adjustment (1) 1 1 (2) (1)

Retirement - - (1) (8) (9)

Charge for financial year 31 17 4 148 200

At 31 December 2024 697 53 24 388 1,162

Net book amounts 
At 31 December 2024 979 118 15 352 1,464

At 31 December 2023 1,009 136 20 497 1,662

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 (cont'd.)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 (cont'd.)

10. Net Income/(Expenditure)	
Net income for the financial year is stated after charging:

2024
€'000 

2023 
€'000

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets (note 13) 200 191

11. Employees and Remuneration
The average number of persons employed by the Foundation during the financial year was 43 (2023: 41) and is 
analysed into the following categories:

2024 2023 

Fundraising 23 21

Charitable Activities 8 6

Support & Management 12 14

43 41

The staff costs amounted to: €’000 €’000

Salaries 2,220 2,333

Social welfare costs 243 232

Pension costs (Note 18) 59 51

Severance payments - -

2,522 2,616

The number of employees at each of the salary bands (salary and allowances and other benefits, excluding PRSI and 
pension contribution) from €70,000 and above are as follows:

2024 2023

Salary Band €70,001- €80,000 2 5

Salary Band €80,001 - €90,000 4 1

Salary Band €90,001 - €100,000 - -

Salary Band €100,001- €110,000 - -

Salary Band €110,001- €120,000 1 1

Salary Band €120,001- €130,000 - 1

Salary Band €130,001 - €140,000 - 1

Salary Band €140,001 - €150,000 - -

Total key management compensation (salary, PRSI, pension contribution, allowances, and other benefits) for the 
financial year was €258,204 (2023: €507,949)
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15. Cash and Cash Equivalent			 
		  2024	 2023
		  €’000	 €’000

Cash in banks		  16,597	 31,571

Cash equivalent		  2,002	 -

		  	

		  18,599	 31,571
		  	

Cash equivalent consists of treasury deposits which are readily convertible to known amount of cash and is subject to 
an insignificant risk of changes in value. This is subject to an interest rate varying between 1.5% and 2.3% and has a 
term of three months or less. There are no restrictions on the withdrawal of this fund other than the notice of period 
required and the foregoing of interest.

16. Debtors
		  2024	 2023

		  €’000	 €’000

Debtors and prepayments		  59	 51

Deferred expense		  -	 30

		  	

		  59	 81
		  	

17. Creditors: Amounts falling due within one-year

		  2024	 2023

		  €’000	 €’000

Trade creditors		  315	 159

General Accruals		  69	 237

Other creditors		  11	 8

PAYE/PRSI		  69	 68

Deferred income (Note 18)		  -	 254

		  	

		  464	 726
		  	

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 (cont'd.)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 (cont'd.)

14. Investments
		  2024	 2023
		  €’000	 €’000
A. Investment Funds		

At 1 January 2024		  4,045	 3,434

Additions		  -

Disposals		  -

Movement in fair value		  508	 611
		  	
At 31 December 2024	            	 4,553	 4,045
		  	

B. Investment in Equity Instrument		

At 1 January 2024		  15	 -
Additions		  -	 17
Disposals		  -	 (2)
Movement in fair value		  4	
		  	
At 31 December 2024		  19	 15
		  	

C. Short-term Deposits (at Amortised Cost)		

At 1 January 2024		  -	 -
Additions		  18,224	 -
Disposals		  -	 -
Movement in fair value		  -	
		  	
At 31 December 2024		  18,224	 -
		  	
Total Investments 		  22,796	 4,060
		  	

Investment funds are included in the financial statements at fair value, and any fluctuations are accounted for in the 
Statement of Financial Activities. The investments were held with the following investment managers at the financial 
year end:

		  2024	 2023
		  €’000	 €’000
Irish Life Investment Managers Limited: 
MAPS Scheme		  1,226	 1,107
Quilter Cheviot Investment Management: 
Diversified Portfolio		  3,327	 2,938
		  	
		  4,553 	 4,045
		  	

The Foundations holds short-term deposits amounting to €18.2m with a term of 171 to 365 days and can be accessed 
upon giving notice of 30 days. These deposits earn interest rates of 2.57% to 3.62% per annum. The deposits are 
held with a reputable bank and are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value. There are no restrictions on the 
withdrawal of these funds other than the notice of period required and the foregoing of interest.
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21. Funds of the Charity 	 Opening
 Balance
Jan 2024

€’000

Income
2024

€’000

Expenditure
2024

€’000

Grants 
2024 

€’000

Transfers
2024  

€’000

Closing
Balance

Dec 2024
€’000

Unrestricted Funds   13,597   14,466           (6,186) (430) (7,838)   13,609 

Designated Funds
Research     5,192            -                     -   (1,110) (981)     3,101 
Medical Equipment     3,772            -                     -   (1,994)       3,260     5,038 
Patient & Parental Support     1,337            -                     -   (611)       2,270     2,996 
Redevelopment & New Services     1,362            -                     -   (122)       3,713     4,953 

Total Designated Funds   11,663            -                     -   (3,837)       8,262   16,088 

Total Unrestricted Funds   25,260   14,466 (6,186) (4,267) 424   29,697 

Restricted Funds

Cardiac Fund     1,435         235 (26) (529) -     1,115 
CCR&D     1,717         662 (6) (125)          (3)     2,245 
Katie Nugent Fund         443             2                   -   (320)              -           125 
Diabetes Fund           90           80 (25) (38)              -           107 
Straight Ahead Fund         570           14 (16) (5) (563) -
Straight Ahead (EOSedge System) - -                   -   - 540 540
Marfan Fund         243            -   (8)          -                -           235 
Nazareth's Ward         410             3                   -   (1)              -           412 
Research Funds         458         410                   -   (43) (41)         784 
IIP- MRI 860 400                   -            -   (366) 894 
IIP Arts     1,200 400                   -            -                -       1,600 
Other Restricted Funds 3,962 1,088                           -   (359) 9 4,700 

Total Restricted Funds   11,388     3,294 (81) (1,420) (424)   12,757 

Total Funds of the Charity   36,648   17,760 (6,267) (5,687)              -     42,454 

The Foundation's designated funds relate to commitments approved by Board of Directors. At year end, total commitments 
amounted to €16.1m (2023: €11.7m), covering a wide range of projects in Children's Health Ireland at Crumlin, Temple 
Street, Tallaght and Connolly. These funds are subject to specific conditions, and where conditions are not fulfilled the 
Foundation can redistribute them.

Restricted funds represent donations, fundraising events income and legacies received, which can only be used for those 
purposes that have been specified by supporters with the intention of supporting a specific area, ward, department, or 
research project. 

Transfers during 2024 included €366k of expenditure paid by CHF on behalf of the IIP-MRI restricted fund, which has now 
been allocated to that fund.  In addition, a transfer of €540k was made from the Straight Ahead Fund to a newly agreed 
restricted fund for an EOSedge Scanner System. Further reclassifications were made between restricted and unrestricted 
funds. These transfers represent reclassifications between funds and do not constitute new income or expenditure.

The presentation of this note has been enhanced to show expenditure on restricted reserves as a separate column.  
Comparative information has been updated to follow the same format. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 (cont'd.)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 (cont'd.)

18. Deferred Income 
Deferred Income comprises of grants for specific research projects carried out by the NCRC. This income is released as 
the associated project costs are incurred for the relevant research project.

		  2024	 2023

		  €’000	 €’000

Balance at start of year		  254	 -

Receipt of deferred income during the year 	 -	 254

Amount released to income earned from charitable activities	 (254)       	   -

		  	

Balance at end of year		  -	 254

		  	  

19. Financial Instrument
The carrying values of the company's financial assets and liabilities are summarised by category below:

		  2024	 2023

		  €’000	 €’000

Financial assets		

Measured at amortised cost		

- Cash and cash equivalent		  18,599	 31,571

- Short-term deposits		  18,224	 -

	

Measured at fair value through SOFA		

- Current asset listed investments		  4,572	 4,060

Financial liabilities		

Measured at undiscounted amount payable		

- Trade creditors	  	 315	  159

- Other creditors		  11	 8

20. Commitments
Pension Commitments

The Foundation makes contributions to pension plans selected by relevant employees and administers contributions 
made by and on behalf of employees which are invested in PRSAs. The contributions payable to the retirement 
benefit schemes during the financial period are charged to the Statement of Financial Activities. The amount paid in 
the financial year was €59k (2023: €51k). An accrual of €11k is included in the financial statements with respect to 
outstanding contributions at 31 December 2024 (2023: €8k).

Lease Commitments 
No new lease contract was entered into during the year.
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21. Funds of the Charity (cont'd.)

Name of Fund Description of nature and purpose of each fund

Children's Cancer Research 
& Development (CCR&D)

To fund capital improvements, equipment, research and improved patient and family 
experiences within the Oncology and Haematology services at CHI at Crumlin

Nazareth's Ward To fund the redevelopment of the Baby Ward in CHI at Crumlin

Research Funds To support all research projects and grants

Cardiac Fund To fund capital improvements, cutting edge technology, equipment, research and 
patient and family experiences in the Cardiac unit in CHI at Crumlin

Katie Nugent Fund To support the needs of oncology particularly psychosocial supports and projects to 
improve care for children and their families

Straight Ahead Fund To funds surgery, support and medical equipment for children with orthopaedic 
conditions particularly scoliosis

Diabetes Fund To support the needs of the children and young adolescents with diabetes

IIP Fund – MRI For purchase of an MRI Temple Street and MRI related equipment in Crumlin under the 
Immigration Investor Programs

IIP Fund - Arts For the IIP approved project for Arts in Health 

Marfan Fund To fund research into Marfan’s Disease

Orthopedic Fund To fund the redevelopment of the Out-Patients Department in Children’s Health Ireland 
at Crumlin

Other Restricted Funds Funds with a balance of less than €500k each at 31 December 2024 and which are to 
finance specific items of equipment, services or projects in Children’s Health Ireland at 
Crumlin, Temple Street, Tallaght and Connelly

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 (cont'd.)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 (cont'd.)

Funds of the charity  
prior year:	

Opening
 Balance
Jan 2023

€’000

Income
2023

€’000

Expenditure
2023

€’000

Grants 
2023 

€’000

Transfers
2023  

€’000

Closing
Balance

Dec 2023
€’000

Unrestricted Funds   10,773  12,665 (5,785) (626) (3,430)            13,597 

Designated Funds
Research     5,391            -                     -   (2,907)       2,708               5,192 
Medical Equipment     6,855            -                     -   (2,283) (800)               3,772 
Patient & Parental Support         857            -                     -   (282)          762               1,337 
Redevelopment & New Services     1,997            -                     -   (384) (251)               1,362 

Total Designated Funds   15,100            -                     -   (5,856)       2,419            11,663 

Total Unrestricted Funds   25,873  12,665 (5,785) (6,482) (1,011)            25,260 

Restricted Funds

CCR&D     1,518        504 (12) (284) (9) 1,717
Nazareth's Ward         402            8                   -   (1)              1                  410 
Research Funds         155        398                   -   (92) (3)                  458 
Cardiac Fund 695        368 (23) (52) 447               1,435 
Katie Nugent Fund         715            2                   -   (274)  -                  443 
Straight Ahead Fund         338        260 (12) (16) -                  570 
Diabetes Fund         139          73 (49) (73)  -                    90 
Marfan Fund                247          - (4) -  -                   243  
Other Restricted Funds     4,232 2,083                         -   (868)          575               6,022 

Total Restricted Funds     8,441    3,696 (100) (1,660)       1,011            11,388 

Total Funds of the Charity   34,314  16,361 (5,885) (8,142)              -              36,648 

Restricted funds represent donations, fundraising events income and legacies received, which can only be used 
for those purposes that have been specified by supporters with the intention of supporting a specific area, ward, 
department, or research project. 

The Foundation's designated funds relate to commitments approved by Board of Directors. Total commitments 
amounted to €11.7m (2022: €15.1m), covering a wide range of projects in Children's Health Ireland at Crumlin, Temple 
Street, Tallaght and Connolly. These funds are subject to specific conditions, and where conditions are not fulfilled the 
Foundation can redistribute them.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIALSTATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

22. Analysis of Net Assets Between Funds  	

Unrestricted 
Funds
€’000

Designated Funds
€’000

Restricted Funds
€’000

Closing Funds
Balance

€’000

Tangible Fixed Assets 1,464 - - 1,464

Current Assets 12,609 16,088 12,757 41,454

Liabilities (464) - - (464)

Total funds 13,609 16,088 12,757 42,454

In respect of prior year:

Unrestricted 
Funds
€’000

Designated Funds
€’000

Restricted Funds
€’000

Closing
Funds Balance

€’000

Tangible Fixed Assets 1,662 - - 1,662

Current Assets 12,661 11,663 11,388 35,712

Liabilities (726) - - (726)

Total funds 13,597 11,663 11,388 36,648

23. Grants to Partner Organisations
Children's Health Foundation works closely with Children's Health Ireland and the National Children's Research Centre 
(NCRC) to support sick children and research. Total Grants paid to CHI during 2024 amounted to €5.2m (2023 €6.8m). 
Total Grants paid to NCRC during 2024 amounted to €103k (2023: €860k). 

Anne Kilgallen and David McCann were Children's Health Ireland's nominees to the Board of Children's Health 
Foundation in 2024.

24. Subsequent Events
There have been no significant events occurring subsequent to the statement of financial position date that require 
adjustment or disclosure in the financial statement.

25. Comparative Amounts
Comparative information has been reclassified where necessary to conform to current year presentation to enhance 
the understanding of the financial statements.
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“Looking ahead, 
we are committed 
to deepening 
and expanding 
our impact in 
meaningful and 
measurable ways.”
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